1

Ecological interactions in glacier environments: a review of studies on a model Alpine glacier

Arianna Crosta^{1,*}, Barbara Valle^{2,3}, Marco Caccianiga⁴, Mauro Gobbi⁵, Francesco Gentile Ficetola¹, Francesca Pittino⁶, Andrea Franzetti⁶, Roberto Sergio Azzoni⁷, Valeria Lencioni⁵, Antonella Senese¹, Luca Corlatti^{8,9}, Jakub Buda¹⁰, Ewa Poniecka¹¹, Tereza Novotná Jaroměřská^{12,13}, Krzysztof Zawierucha¹⁰ and Roberto Ambrosini¹

¹Department of Environmental Science and Policy, University of Milan, via Celoria 26, Milan 20133, Italy

²Department of Life Sciences, Università degli Studi di Siena, Via A. Moro 2, Siena 53100, Italy

³NBFC, National Biodiversity Future Center, Piazza Marina, 61, Palermo 90133, Italy

⁵ Climate and Ecology Unit, Research and Museum Collections Office, MUSE-Science Museum, Corso del Lavoro e della Scienza 3, Trento 38122, Italy

⁶Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Milano-Bicocca, Piazza della Scienza 1, Milan 20126, Italy

⁷Department of Earth Sciences 'A. Desio', University of Milan, via Mangiagalli 34, Milan 20133, Italy

⁸ERSAF – Direzione Parco Stelvio, via De Simoni 42, Bormio (SO) 23032, Italy

⁹Chair of Wildlife Ecology and Management, University of Freiburg, Tennenbacher Str. 4, Freiburg 79106, Germany

¹⁰Department of Animal Taxonomy and Ecology, Faculty of Biology, Adam Mickiewicz University, Uniwersytetu Poznańskiego 6, Poznań 61-614, Poland

¹¹Laboratory of RNA Biology – ERA Chairs Group, International Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology in Warsaw, 4 Ks. Trojdena Street, Warsaw 02-109, Poland

¹²Department of Ecology, Faculty of Science, Charles University, Viničná 7, Prague 2 CZ-12844, Czech Republic

¹³Institute of Soil Biology and Biogeochemistry, Biology Centre CAS, České Budějovice 37005, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Glaciers host a variety of cold-adapted taxa, many of which have not yet been described. Interactions among glacier organisms are even less clear. Understanding ecological interactions is crucial to unravelling the functioning of glacier ecosystems, particularly in light of current glacier retreat. Through a review of the existing literature, we aim to provide a first overview of the biodiversity, primary production, trophic networks, and matter flow of a glacier ecosystem. We use the Forni Glacier (Central Italian Alps) – one of the best studied alpine glaciers in the world – as a model system for our literature review and integrate additional original data. We reveal the importance of allochthonous organic matter inputs, of Cyanobacteria and eukaryotic green algae in primary production, and the key role of springtails (*Vertagopus glacialis*) on the glacier surface in sustaining populations of two apex terrestrial predators: *Nebria castanea* (Coleoptera: Carabidae) and *Pardosa saturatior* (Araneae: Lycosidae). The cryophilic tardigrade *Cryobiotus klebelsbergi* is the apex consumer in cryoconite holes. This short food web highlights the fragility of nodes represented by invertebrates, contrasting with structured microbial communities in all glacier habitats. Although further research is necessary to quantify the ecological interactions of glacier organisms, this review summarises and integrates existing knowledge about the ecological processes on alpine glaciers and supports the importance of glacier-adapted organisms in providing ecosystem services.

Key words: glacier ecology, trophic webs, supraglacial ecosystem, cryophiles, ecological interactions, glacial ecosystems.

⁴Department of Bioscience, University of Milan, via Celoria 26, Milan 20133, Italy

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +39 3319214769; E-mail: arianna.crosta@unimi.it).

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Author(s). *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	.2
II.	Methods	.3
	(1) Model system	. 3
	(2) Literature search	. 5
	(3) Original data	. 6
III.	Results	. 6
	(1) Supraglacial environment	6
	(a) Allochthonous organic matter	. 7
	(<i>b</i>) Primary producers	. /
	(c) Autochthonous organic matter	., 8
	(d) Decomposers	. 0 9
	(e) Consumers	. 9
	(f) Supraglacial environment: shifts in community dynamics	11
	(2) Englacial environment	12
	(3) Subglacial environment	13
IV.	Discussion	13
V.	Conclusions	14
VI.	Acknowledgements	14
VII.	Data availability statement	14
VIII.	References	14
IX.	Supporting information	18
		-

I. INTRODUCTION

Habitat loss and climate change are well-known major threats to biodiversity. Recent scientific literature emphasises how ongoing glacier retreat, triggered by climate warming, is affecting biodiversity along glacier forelands (e.g. Bosson *et al.*, 2023; Ficetola *et al.*, 2021). However, little is known about the biodiversity of glaciers, i.e. about the organisms living on, in, and under glaciers (Zawierucha & Shain, 2019; Stibal *et al.*, 2020), and published information is not equally available for all glacier taxa. Glaciers and ice sheets have been recognised as a biome in their own right (Anesio & Laybourn-Parry, 2012), and in Europe are protected by the Habitat Directive under the habitat type 'Permanent Glaciers-Code 8340' (see Gobbi *et al.*, 2021).

All glaciers are characterised by the presence of three environments: supraglacial, englacial and subglacial (Hodson et al., 2008), each comprising a variety of habitats hosting different communities. The supraglacial environment occurs at the ice-atmosphere interface and receives debris, dust, microorganisms, spores, pollen, and contaminants from atmospheric deposition - originating from both long-range transport and the adjacent habitats. The surface is characterised by high irradiation, temperature cycles and is often open to the atmosphere, allowing gas exchange. However, dark and anoxic conditions can be found in some microhabitats (e.g. lower cryoconite layers; Buda et al., 2022). Liquid water is often available during the ablation season, but also contributes to washing out nutrients and organic matter (OM) into meltwaters (Hodson et al., 2008). According to current knowledge, the supraglacial environment is the most biologically productive and species rich among glacier

environments. Cryoconite holes – water pools with fine debris at the bottom that form on the ice surface due to differential melting – are hotspots of microbiological activity on the ice (Hodson *et al.*, 2008; Cook *et al.*, 2016; Smith *et al.*, 2016). Interaction of minerals and glacial Cyanobacteria leads to the formation of cryoconite granules (e.g. Takeuchi, Nishiyama & Li, 2010), which play pivotal roles in biogeochemical cycles, storing OM and reducing albedo (Segawa *et al.*, 2020; Wejnerowski *et al.*, 2023).

Depending on the thermal regime of the glacier, the englacial environment hosts viable communities or is limited to storing inactive microorganisms or genetic material (Makowska-Zawierucha et al., 2022; Varliero et al., 2021). Finally, the subglacial environment lies below the bulk ice at the interface with the bedrock (Hodson et al., 2008). In the englacial and subglacial environments, light availability and oxygen content decrease with ice thickness. Debris content, the presence of liquid water, and the supply of nutrients and organismal seed inputs from the glacier surface depend on parameters as lithology, temperature, and seasonality (Hodson et al., 2008). Stress and strain due to ice movement and bedrock irregularity become important factors and, in some cases, can negatively affect the occurrence and distribution of organisms. Due to logistical and technical constraints, knowledge about subglacial communities is limited, but they are generally believed to be dominated by anaerobic microbial processes (Achberger et al., 2017).

Glacial organisms include (*i*) microbes – bacteria [e.g. Alpha- and Betaproteobacteria, Cyanobacteria, and Actinobacteria (e.g. Franzetti *et al.*, 2017*a*; Pittino *et al.*, 2018)], filamentous fungi and yeasts [e.g. Dothideomycetes, Microbotryomycetes, and Pleosporales (e.g. Dhume, Tsuji &

Singh, 2022; Edwards et al., 2013; Turchetti et al., 2008)], archaea (e.g. Pittino et al., 2023b), and protozoans [e.g. algae and ciliates (Hoham & Remias, 2020; Zawierucha et al., 2022)]; (ii) microinvertebrates, such as tardigrades, rotifers, nematodes and platyhelminths (Zawierucha et al., 2019a; Shain et al., 2021); (iii) macroinvertebrates, such as annelids (Shain et al., 2001; Liang, 1979), and arthropods [mites and springtails (Buda et al., 2020a; Valle et al., 2022, 2024); chironomids (Boothroyd & Cranston, 1999; Kohshima, 1985; Gobbi & Lencioni, 2021); plecopterans (Vera, Zuñiga-Reinoso & Muñoz-Escobar, 2012); copepods (Shain et al., 2021); beetles and spiders (Gobbi & Lencioni, 2021)]; and (iv) bryophytes and vascular plants (e.g. Tampucci et al., 2017). Some of these glacier-adapted macroinvertebrates may also sustain organisms at higher trophic levels. For example, ice worms (Mesenchytraeus solifugus) on glaciers in the Pacific Northwest of the USA are a regular food source for nesting grey-crowned rosy finches (Leucosticte tephrocotis), and several other species (Hotaling et al., 2020). Hotaling et al. (2020) suggested that, close to glacierised areas, highly mobile species such as birds could take advantage of glacier subsidies by crossing habitat boundaries. Indeed, some bird species show a preference for glaciers and snow fields (Brooks et al., 2023). Although this evidence highlights a more important ecological role of glaciers than expected in the past, little information is available on the trophic networks and other ecological interactions (e.g. facilitation, competition) within glacier environments, representing an important gap in our knowledge of these ecosystems.

Most of the available literature focusses on the biodiversity of polar glaciers, with studies on most alpine glaciers lagging behind (Cook et al., 2016; Zawierucha & Shain, 2019), although Alpine debris-covered glaciers are an exception (Gobbi, Isaia & De Bernardi, 2011; Gobbi et al., 2017; Tampucci et al., 2016, 2017; Valle et al., 2020, 2022). In these glaciers, most of the ablation zone is covered by thick debris. Alpine glaciers mostly occur at high altitudes, which favours greater fragmentation and isolation of the communities that inhabit them. For instance, communities of beetles and spiders were found to be more similar along the foreland of an Alpine glacier and along adjacent forelands than they were to those at distant (>30 km) sites (Gobbi & Brambilla, 2016). Alpine glaciers are on average smaller than polar glaciers and therefore more likely to disappear in the near future, implying that alpine coldadapted and cryophilic fauna is at a high risk of extinction (e.g. Bosson et al., 2023; Panza & Gobbi, 2022). As suggested by Gobbi et al. (2021), these taxa should be considered threatened given their areal reduction coupled with small population sizes, patchy and/or restricted distributions, low dispersal potential, stenothermy, and lack of refugia. Furthermore, many are Alpine endemites or steno-endemites (e.g. Valle et al., 2024), highlighting the urgency to study the biodiversity of alpine glaciers.

By qualitatively summarising the available information on biodiversity and trophic interactions on one of the most studied Alpine glaciers – the Forni Glacier, Central Italian Alps – and combining it with new data, this study aims to fill knowledge gaps by providing a general overview of the ecological interactions in glacier environments and a description of the biodiversity of an alpine glacier.

The Forni is an ideal glacier for such a study, as almost all the taxa present on it have been studied (Table 1; see online Supporting Information, Table S1). This is one of the very few alpine glaciers in the world with sufficient multidisciplinary studies available to reconstruct, at least qualitatively, the trophic network of its supraglacial habitats. Only a few other glaciers have been regularly investigated in the context of biology and ecology, such as the Ecology Glacier in Antarctica (e.g. Buda et al., 2020b; Mieczan et al., 2013) and the Ürümqi Glacier in Central Asia (e.g. Zawierucha et al., 2018; Takeuchi et al., 2010). However, the Forni Glacier is the only one for which there has been regular monitoring of biota spanning more than a decade (e.g. Gobbi, Fontaneto & De Bernardi, 2006b). Moreover, it is among the few alpine glaciers with data available on the biogeochemistry of supraglacial sediments, meteorological conditions, ice dynamics, geological setting, and primary succession along the foreland (e.g. Rozwalak et al., 2022; Senese et al., 2018, 2020; Urbini et al., 2017; Azzoni et al., 2018; Montrasio et al., 2012; Gobbi et al., 2006a, 2007; Franzetti et al., 2020).

Trophic networks are a representation of feeding interactions in an ecosystem, where the components (species) are connected by binary links, and enable the representation and analysis of the trophic structure and functioning of an ecosystem. Thus, they provide an important basis to understand an ecosystem's possible responses to changes in resource availability, and the ecological services that taxa, or groups of taxa, provide (Schwartz et al., 2000; Wagg et al., 2019). Therefore, information about trophic webs is crucial to assess the possible responses of glacier communities to the rapid retreat of their habitats, and the potential consequences of glacier disappearance on neighbouring ecosystems. As glaciers act as cold traps for contaminants (Grannas et al., 2013) and have the potential for contaminant degradation (e.g. Ferrario et al., 2017), reconstructing trophic webs on their surface can also help assessments of the effects and fate of these substances (Lencioni et al., 2023b; Pittino et al., 2023a).

II. METHODS

(1) Model system

The Forni Glacier $(46^{\circ} 23' 32'' \text{ N}, 10^{\circ} 35' 28'' \text{ E}, \text{ Fig. 1})$ is located within the Stelvio National Park in the Central Italian Alps and within a Special Area of Conservation (SAC, code IT2040014). It is a valley glacier, fed in the past by three accumulation basins (Fig. 1B). The western and eastern basins separated from the central ice body in 2013 and

Subuille 1, CLUMA, CHARGE	11101101 DIVY, 1191, 11011101 U 019	crincu space 1, mur	, TIDUSUIIAI DIVISI			
Reference	Method	Habitat 1	Habitat 2	Habitat 3	Focal taxon 1	Focal taxon 2
Azzoni et al. (2018) Buda et al. $(2020a)$ Buzzini et al. (2005)	16S rDNA sequencing Visual transects and counts Cultures, visual, biochemical	Snow Supraglacial stones Subglacial stream	Medial moraine Supraglacial stream		Bacteria Springtails Yeasts	
Franzetti <i>et al.</i> (2016) Franzetti <i>et al.</i> (2017 <i>a</i>)	identification 16S, metagenomic sequencing 16S rDNA sequencing	Cryoconite holes Cryoconite	Lateral, medial moraines	Dirt cone	Bacteria Bacteria	
Franzetti <i>et al.</i> (2017 <i>b</i>) Gobbi <i>et al.</i> (2006 <i>a</i>) Gobbi <i>et al.</i> (2007)	16S rDNA sequencing Pitfall traps, visual identification Pitfall traps, visual identification	Cryoconite holes Ice Lateral, medial moraines	Moraine Supraglacial debris	Ice	Bacteria Arthropods Arthropods	
Novotná Jaroměřská	Stable isotopes (C, N)	Cryoconite holes	Ice	Supraglacial debris	Tardigrades	Springtails
e_{i} <i>a.</i> . (2023) Pelfini & Gobbi, (2005) Pittino <i>et al.</i> (2018) Pittino <i>et al.</i> (2021) Pittino <i>et al.</i> (2023 <i>b</i>)	Pitfall traps, visual identification 16S rDNA sequencing RNA retrotranscription 16S genes and transcripts, abotem metatranscripts,	Ice Cryoconite holes Cryoconite holes Cryoconite holes	Supraglacial debris	Lateral moraine	Arthropods Bacteria Bacteria Bacteria	
Rozwalak <i>et al.</i> (2022) Turchetti <i>et al.</i> (2008)	165 rDNA sequencing Cultures, 265 rDNA sequencing	Cryoconite holes Supraglacial debris	Subglacial debris	Englacial	Cyanobacteria Yeasts	Algae
Zawierucha <i>et al.</i> (2019a)	Aeroplankton traps, visual identification, COI securencing	Cryoconite holes	Dirt cone, medial moraine	D	Tardigrades, rotifers	Invertebrate aeroplankton
Zawierucha et al. (2019b)	9 subsamples per 3 holes, visual identification	Cryoconite holes			Invertebrates	
Zawierucha et al. (2021) Zawierucha et al. (2022)	18S rDNA in eDNA 18S, 16S, ITS1 sequencing	Cryoconite holes Cryoconite holes			Invertebrates Tardigrades	Bacteria and microeukaryotes

Table 1. List of publications from which information on the biodiversity and trophic interactions on the surface of the Forni Glacier was obtained. COI, cytochrome oxidase





Fig. 1. (A) Geographical location of the Forni Glacier. (B) Aerial view of the glacier. CIB, Central Ice Body, EB, Eastern Basin; WB, Western Basin.

2015 respectively, transforming the Forni Glacier into a valley glacier and two lateral circue glaciers. The glacier is north-facing and extends between approximately 2600 and 3672 metres above sea level (m a.s.l.) (Fig. 1B), with a total surface area of 10.49 km² in 2016 for the three ice bodies as a whole (Paul et al., 2020). It is classified as a temperate glacier, implying a faster flow of the ice mass (40-45 m/year in the upper sectors and 10–15 m/year at the terminus; Urbini et al., 2017) and abundant meltwater excavating bédières (small supraglacial streams), moulins, and other englacial or subglacial drainage systems. The surrounding rock formations are micaschists (Montrasio et al., 2012). The strong weathering occurring at high-altitude bare-rock sites implies a large availability for biological activity of silicates, bivalent cations [e.g. calcium (Ca^{2+}), magnesium (Mg^{2+}), iron (Fe^{2+}), and manganese (Mn^{2+})] and trivalent cations [e.g. aluminium (Al^{3+}) , iron (Fe^{3+}) , and chromium (Cr^{3+})].

As one of the largest Italian glaciers and due to its accessibility, the Forni Glacier has iconographic documentation dating back to the mid-19th century. Its meltwaters are used to power hydroelectric plants, and the Forni Glacier has strong socio-cultural, scientific, and economic value. For these reasons, the glaciological, biological, and

ecological processes of this glacier have been subject to intensive study.

(2) Literature search

A literature search was conducted in *Web of Science, Google Scholar*, and *Scopus* using the key words: 'Ghiacciaio dei Forni'/'Forni Glacier'/'glacier' AND 'ecology'; 'Ghiacciaio dei Forni'/'Forni Glacier'/'glacier' AND 'biodiversity'; 'Ghiacciaio dei Forni'/'Forni Glacier'/'glacier' AND 'vegetation'; 'Ghiacciaio dei Forni'/'Forni Glacier'/'glacier' AND 'fauna'. On September 19th, 2023, this search returned 634 papers. After exclusion of papers not specifically focussed on the Forni Glacier, we retained a total of 19 papers. Seven of these focussed on bacterial communities, one on cyanobacteria and algae, four on springtails and other arthropods, two on yeasts, four investigated invertebrates in cryoconite holes (e.g. tardigrades, rotifers), and one studied the trophic levels of tardigrades and springtails (Table 1).

From these papers, we extracted information on the presence or absence of taxa in different glacier habitats (e.g. cryoconite holes, surface ice, moraine, dirt cones) to assess the biodiversity of the Forni. We then identified trophic interactions already described in the literature. Whenever data on trophic interactions were unavailable for the Forni, we searched for such information in studies about other glaciers, prioritising those that were geographically close. We thus included: (i) diet preferences of predators on the Forni, which were investigated in proglacial plains at sites in the Alps by Sint et al. (2019); (ii) information about algae from nearby sites (Di Mauro et al., 2020), laboratory settings (Perini et al., 2023), and other alpine areas (Brown, Olson & Jumpponen, 2015) to determine the roles of snow algae detected on the Forni Glacier, but not investigated there; (iii) enzymatic activity for one yeast strain detected on the Forni, whose activity has not been studied there, but was available for Antarctic or Himalayan sites (Martorell et al., 2017; Sanyal et al., 2020), although the extent to which the strains have equivalent activity at these sites remains unclear.

In the available literature, the biodiversity of the Forni was investigated by the flotation methods, pitfall trapping, and hand searching (for arthropods), DNA metabarcoding, visual microscopic identification, and cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (COI) sequencing. Different habitats (e.g. medial moraine, cryoconite holes, and sub- and englacial habitats for yeasts) were investigated. The trophic levels of Collembola and Tardigrada were investigated using stable isotope analysis of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (Novotná Jaroměřská *et al.*, 2023) and environmental DNA (eDNA) (Zawierucha *et al.*, 2022). Further details on the methods used and the habitats described are provided in Table 1.

(3) Original data

Previously unpublished information was used to fill some gaps in the literature. Bryophytes were qualitatively sampled from the medial moraine of Forni and a few isolated boulders on the bare ice, then air-dried in paper bags for preservation. After rehydration with water, identification to genus level was performed using dichotomic keys from Cortini Pedrotti (2001, 2005) under a stereomicroscope. Information on the occurrence of springtail species was obtained from qualitative sampling on the medial moraines using the flotation method (Valle et al., 2022), and under isolated boulders on bare ice by hand catching. Specimens were preserved in 96% alcohol and then identified to species level using taxonomic keys from Gisin (1960), Potapov (2001) and Valle et al. (2024). Data obtained from these two qualitative samplings are included in the checklist of species detected on the Forni Glacier (Table S1). Observations of vertebrate species were opportunistically collected during fieldwork. eDNA data from cryoconite holes on the Forni Glacier [see Zawierucha et al. (2022) for methodological details], were used to confirm the presence of organisms and trophic interactions. Information on eDNA abundance is available in Tables S2 and S3, and Appendix S1. To assess the structure of eukaryotic communities, we also sequenced the V9 region of the 18S rDNA gene with Ion Torrent (Life Technologies). DNA was extracted with FastDNA SPIN

Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals) from 10 wet cryoconite samples (about 0.5 ml each). For library preparation and sequencing we referred to Zawierucha et al. (2022). Sequences were assembled into amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) using the DADA2 package (Callahan et al., 2016). Taxonomy was assigned using the SILVA database (v128.18 s.99; Quast et al., 2013) with full classification for confidence values equal to or higher than 0.8. ASVs not classified to family level, and those with only a few reads are not considered in the description of the possible trophic structure. Abundance data are available in Table S4. The radiative input during the snow-free period (i.e. July, August and September) on the Forni Glacier was calculated using solar radiation data recorded by the automatic weather station on the Forni ablation area [AWS1 Forni, active since September 2005 (see e.g. Senese et al., 2018, 2020]. All new data presented here are available at: https://doi.org/10.13130/RD UNIMI/9PPBAB

III. RESULTS

(1) Supraglacial environment

The most widespread supraglacial habitat on the Forni Glacier is the bare ice surface. On the ablation tongue, areas free from debris (coarse, fine or cryoconite) were estimated at 73.3% (0.65 km²) in 2003 and 51.9% (0.35 km²) in 2015 (Azzoni et al., 2018). However, little information is available regarding the communities on the bare ice surface of the Forni. By contrast, cryoconite holes have been extensively studied over a longer period (e.g. Pittino et al., 2018). On the Forni, cryoconite is in the form of dark irregular granules, repeatedly observed over many years, with a mean \pm SD size of 0.54 ± 0.20 mm (Rozwalak *et al.*, 2022). The OM content varies among years and with location of cryoconite holes, and generally increases during the ablation season (Pittino et al., 2018), ranging between 5% and 55% (Rozwalak et al., 2022). As on other temperate glaciers (Takeuchi et al., 2000), cryoconite holes on the Forni do not last throughout the whole ablation season. An important feature of temperate glaciers is the high abundance of running water during the melting season. Meltwaters flow in bédières on the ice surface: their flow contributes to the dispersal of cryoconite, microbes, and microinvertebrates, and to leaching of nutrients off the glacier (Hodson et al., 2008). Consequently, the various habitats in the supraglacial zone of the Forni Glacier are interconnected.

Few studies have investigated colonisation by organisms through atmospheric deposition on the Forni. Zawierucha *et al.* (2019*a*) conducted a short-term experiment with aeroplankton traps and found windblown, non-glacial mites on the glacier surface. Snowfalls can also efficiently precipitate bacteria from the atmosphere and provide either a source for glacier communities or additional allochthonous OM. However, on the Forni the snow bacterial community has been studied only in seasonal snow and no information is available for fresh snow. In seasonal snow, the orders *Cytophagales* and *Burkholderiales* dominate (Azzoni *et al.*, 2018). Abundant percolation was described during sample collection, suggesting that cells and smaller organisms may be transported vertically as the snow melts and reach the ice surface (Azzoni *et al.*, 2018).

Trophic levels and potential interactions among organisms were reconstructed only for the well-studied supraglacial environment and include: (*i*) contribution of allochthonous OM; (*ii*) primary producers; (*iii*) autochthonous OM; (*iv*) decomposers; and (*v*) consumers.

(a) Allochthonous organic matter

We defined allochthonous OM as OM originating from organisms from habitats other than the glacier and unable to survive there. Allochthonous OM has been detected on the glacier surface by several studies. Pelfini & Gobbi (2005) found specimens belonging to the orders Diptera, Hymenoptera, Coleoptera (Elateridae: Fleutiauxellus maritimus), and Hemiptera (Cinara sp.) sampled in pitfall traps placed in coarse detritus on the glacier surface (Table S1). Collembola, Acarina, Opiliones and Tardigrada were detected in aeroplankton traps (Zawierucha et al., 2019a). Data from Zawierucha et al. (2019a) allow estimates of the average deposition rates of the cited taxa as 7.1 individuals per square metre (ind/m²) on the ice, and 3.8 ind/m² on the medial moraine, with an average for the whole glacier of 5.5 ind/m^2 . However, more information is needed for a complete characterisation of allochthonous OM and its contributors. In cryoconite holes, we detected eDNA of Polyphaga (Coleoptera), Apis mellifera (Hymenoptera), and Sciaridae (Diptera) (Tables S2 and S3). All these taxa were probably transported there by upslope winds at high altitudes, where the temperature is too low for their survival as observed for other glacial environments (Coulson, Hodkinson & Webb, 2003; Gobbi et al., 2011; Flø & Hågvar, 2013). Similarly, leaves and seeds are often observed on the glacier surface (A. Crosta, B. Valle, R. Ambrosini & F. Pittino, personal observations) and, together with pollen, contribute to allochthonous OM. Pollen can be transported from local and distant locations and represents a source of organic phosphorus on the ice surface (Grewling et al., 2024). Several fungal genera linked to non-glacial environments were also detected on the Forni: the forest fungi Russula, Xerocomus, and Pseudotomentella were likely transported to the glacier as fragments or spores (Zawierucha et al., 2022). 18S rDNA sequencing of cryoconite samples from the Forni identified abundant Blastocladiales, which are decomposers of plant material (Tables S1 and S4). eDNA analysis of the same habitat detected other soil fungi such as Basidioascus undulatus, and members of the families Powellomycetaceae and Lobulomycetaceae (Tables S2 and S3). Among plants, we found eDNA of Pleurozia purpurea (Hepaticae) and the subfamilies Ranunculoideae, Pooidae and Onagroideae, together with that of members of the subclass Pinidae – the presence of these

146918x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/derms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

is again plausibly due to aerial transport. However, Poa laxa, P. alpina and Ranunculus glacialis are three species that are frequently found close to the glacier and on debris-covered glaciers (Tampucci et al., 2016), and we therefore cannot exclude that some individuals might survive on the medial moraine of the Forni, although we never observed the presence of vascular plants. eDNA and 18S analyses were conducted only in cryoconite holes, but we can assume that atmospheric deposition is likely to be relatively homogeneous over the entire ablation area of the glacier, and thus that the allochthonous OM input will be similar for the bare ice surface. Bacteria are also transported by wind from nearby and distant sources (Franzetti et al., 2017a). Not all bacterial populations are able to survive on glaciers, and may therefore serve as a source of OM. Such windblown material is an important source of OM on some arctic glaciers (e.g. Koziol et al., 2019). Wind-borne allochthonous OM also includes predators, parasites, and pathogens, some of which may be able to survive on glaciers in dormant stages. For instance, eDNA analyses detected the DNA of Vampyrella lateritia (a predatory freshwater amoeba that can survive freezing temperatures as a cyst), Mycrobotrium violaceum (parasite of Caryophyllaceae), Stylocephalidae (apicomplexan parasite of insects), Taphrina and Taphrinomycotina (plant pathogens), Simulium (parasitic flies of birds and vertebrates), and Cryptosporidium (protozoan parasite of vertebrates) (Tables S2 and S3).

The glacier can be considered as a geomorpho-ecological corridor, facilitating the movement of vertebrates. The following vertebrates were occasionally observed by the authors: western house martin (*Delichon urbicum*), snow finch (*Montifringilla nivalis*), red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*), ermine (*Mustela erminea*), mountain hare (*Lepus timidus*), Northern chamois (*Rupicapra rupicapra*), and Alpine ibex (*Capra ibex*). In 2009, the footprints of a brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) were observed on the snow in the accumulation area of the glacier. Vertebrates crossing the glacier produce faeces, which are an extra source of nutrients and OM, but also of potential pathogens and faecal bacteria.

(b) Primary producers

The daily average maximum values of radiative input calculated for the Forni are 1209.1 W/m² in July, 1114.5 W/m² in August and 854.3 W/m² in September. This suggests that the irradiation on the glacier surface is intense under all weather conditions (i.e. from clear sky to overcast). As a result of this high light availability in supraglacial habitats, oxygenic and anoxygenic phototrophic organisms are important primary producers on the glacier surface, together with chemosynthetic microbes (Pittino *et al.*, 2021). Published data for primary producers on the Forni are only available for cryoconite holes, although algae have been detected on the glacier surface (Azzoni *et al.*, 2016). Algae on the ice surface of the Forni Glacier have not been taxonomically identified to date. However, ice algae communities on the Forni can be partly reconstructed from data available for other habitats.

In cryoconite of the Forni, Cyanobacteria and algae perform oxygenic photosynthesis (Pittino et al., 2021). For cyanobacteria, representatives of the genera Wilmottia, Chroococcus, Phormidium, Leptolyngbya, and Pseudanabaena have been identified (Buda et al., 2022; Rozwalak et al., 2022). Among algae, Zawierucha et al. (2022) detected the classes Trebouxiophyceae and Xanthophyceae, and the family Chlamydomonadaceae (Chloromonas sp., and Sanguina sp.). However, these genera of Chlamydomonadaceae are typical snow algae. Sanguina has been previously detected on glaciers close to the Forni, e.g. the Morteratsch Glacier, 50 km from the Forni (Di Mauro et al., 2020), and Chloromonas is present in other European mountain ranges (e.g. Procházková et al., 2019). Through eDNA and 18S rDNA sequencing we detected a high abundance of Mischococcales (Xanthophyceae). Rozwalak et al. (2022) identified the following species and genera: Cylindrocystis brebissoni (Ralfs) De Bary f. cryophila Kol, Trochiscia granulata (Reinsch) Hansg., Klebsormidium, Chlorella, Mesotaenium, Trochiscia, Fragilaria, and Nitzschia. The glacier algal genus Mesotaenium was detected on the Morteratsch Glacier (Di Mauro et al., 2020) and Cylindrocystis on the Greenland Ice Sheet (Yallop et al., 2012). The presence of these two genera, and of Chloromonas and Sanguina, indicates the potential for primary production by snow and ice algae on the Forni Glacier, but further investigations are needed. Red snow has been observed occasionally on snow patches close to the glacier. Snow algae often co-occur with fungi (e.g. Brown et al., 2015; Perini et al., 2023), suggesting possible complex interrelationships, such as enrichment of pathogen, endophytic, and saprotrophic fungi within snow communities (Gostinčar & Gunde-Cimerman, 2023). The growth and abundance of snow and ice algae might be modulated positively by fungi (see Perini et al., 2023). As Mesotaenium (also known as Ancylonema alaskanum) has been detected on the Forni, similar interactions could be taking place, although supporting evidence is still needed. Within the class Trebouxiophyceae, eDNA analysis detected the family Botryidiopsidaceae (freshwater algae also detected in Antarctica; Suh et al., 2017) and the freshwater alga Hydrurus foetidus, a cold-adapted benthic member of Chrysophyta. Hydrurus foetidus is often linked to the occurrence of non-biting midge larvae (Diptera: Chironomidae) in glacial streams (Lencioni & Rossaro, 2005). Therefore, we cannot exclude the presence of chironomids in bediérès on the surface of the Forni, especially as Diamesa steinboecki and Metriocnemus eurynotus gr. have been reported from the Brenta Dolomites 30 km away (Lencioni et al., 2021). eDNA analysis additionally detected Ochromonas sp. CCMP1899, also found in the McMurdo Dry Valleys of Antarctica (Roberts et al., 2004), and Chlorolobion braunii. Cyanobacteria and algae are active throughout the day, as is anoxygenic photosynthesis (Pittino et al., 2023b). Most aerobic anoxygenic phototrophs are affiliated with Alpha- and Betaproteobacteria, which are known to use OM as a substrate and light to complement energy demand (Pittino et al., 2021). When the activity of phototrophs

decreases, such as during the night, chemosynthetic Proteobacteria are the most active taxa involved in primary production. Hydrogen oxidation then might become an important pathway to carbon fixation, with hydrogenase gene transcripts on the Forni mostly assigned to Paracoccus sp. and Hydrogenophylus sp. Both genera can exploit molecular hydrogen as an electron donor (Bardischewsky & Friedrich, 2001; Hayashi et al., 1999). On glaciers, molecular hydrogen may have abiotic origins, arising from reactions between water and fine siliceous debris (Telling *et al.*, 2015), which is abundant on the Forni due to the surrounding rock formations. However, H₂ may also result from fermentative and photosynthetic processes in the anoxic zone of cryoconite (Poniecka et al., 2018), found on average 1500 µm below the cryoconite-water interface on the Forni Glacier (Buda et al., 2022), or can be produced by methanogenic archaea, also present on the Forni (Pittino et al., 2023b). Other autotrophs in cryoconite holes are carbon monoxide (CO) oxidisers, which have been classified as Actinobacteria and β -Proteobacteria (Franzetti *et al.*, 2016). These bacteria could exploit CO production through photodegradation of dissolved organic matter (DOM; Franzetti et al., 2016).

To date, no vascular plants have been detected on the Forni except for a dicotyledon bud on the medial moraine (B. Valle & M. Caccianiga, personal communication). However, bryophytes of the genera *Grimmia*, *Racomitrium*, *Polytrichium*, *Bryum*, and *Kiaeria* (Table S1) are common on the moraine of the Forni and on isolated boulders, and constitute an additional source of OM for the supraglacial habitats. Indeed, in cryoconite holes we detected the presence of eDNA of Polytrichaceae and *Racomitrium elongatum*, besides that of small organisms inhabiting bryophytes, such as the cercozoan *Trinema enchelys* (Tables S2 and S3).

(c) Autochthonous organic matter

Organisms on, inside, and beneath the glacier produce OM defined as autochthonous. Components of this category include sugars and other organic compounds produced by organisms living on the glacier, and may originate from extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), faeces or faecal pellets. Cyanobacteria and algae are well known to produce EPS, which contribute to the formation of cryoconite granules (Takeuchi et al., 2010). Fungi are also able to produce EPS, for example the genus Rhodotorula produces mannan, a polysaccharide protecting cells from freeze-thaw damage and desiccation (Touchette et al., 2022). Such compounds can be exploited by other organisms as a nutrient source. Snow and ice algae often produce pigments with a sugar moiety that can be exploited by fungi (Perini et al., 2023), although this interaction has not yet been recorded on the Forni Glacier, for which there is little information about snow and ice algae. Currently, autochthonous OM produced on the Forni Glacier has not been investigated quantitatively nor qualitatively, limiting our understanding of its contribution to trophic interactions on the glacier.

(d) Decomposers

Allochthonous and autochthonous OM is exploited, among others, by fungi such as Goffeauzyma (formerly Cryptococcus) gilvescens and Microstroma (formerly Rhodotorula) bacarum, detected on the Forni by Turchetti et al. (2008). On Alpine glaciers, G. gilvescens showed a strong ability to hydrolyse lipophilic substrates and degrade starch and proteinaceous substrates (Turchetti et al., 2008). In cryoconite holes, other yeasts of the class Microbotryomycetes, and the genus Mortierella were detected by eDNA sequencing, together with the water mold Saprolegnia (Tables S2 and S3). Many yeasts detected in other habitats on the Forni Glacier (e.g. Leucosporidium, Rhodotorula, *Phenoliferia*) belong to this class. Oomycetes of the genus Saprolegnia are freshwater saprophytes, while Mortierella has been reported in the Arctic and Antarctic (Hassan et al., 2016). Previous studies detected ascomycetous genera, such as Aureobasidium, Preussia (in cryoconite holes; Zawierucha et al., 2022) and Microstroma bacarum (in supraglacial debris; Turchetti et al., 2008). All three genera have been previously isolated from cold environments (e.g. Gunde-Cimerman et al., 2003; Perini et al., 2019). Chytridiales and Pleosporaceae, and the genus Cladosporium (Ascomycota) have been detected in cryoconite of the Forni Glacier by eDNA, in accordance with results from other areas of the world (e.g. Perini et al., 2019; Tsuji et al., 2022). As for G. gilvescens, these taxa may benefit from the input of allochthonous and autochthonous OM. In laboratory settings, a correlation between increased abundance of Chytridiomycota and increased algal mortality suggest that these fungi function either as decomposers or parasites of glacier ice algae (Perini et al., 2023). Notably, the role of decomposers is probably not limited to fungi. Microorganisms of cryoconite holes, such as Alpha- and Betaproteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes, are known to decompose OM on other glaciers (e.g. Margesin, Zacke & Schinner, 2002; Sanyal et al., 2018; Stibal, Šabacká & Žárský, 2012) and probably play the same role on Forni, although no specific studies have yet been carried out.

Finally, glaciers act as cold traps for contaminants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, polychlorobiphenyls (PCBs), and pesticides (e.g. Li *et al.*, 2017; Weiland-Bräuer *et al.*, 2017) and the presence of contaminants can promote the selection of bacterial strains with metabolic pathways for their degradation (Cappa *et al.*, 2014). Strains capable of degrading chlorpyrifos (an organochlorine pesticide) have been detected on the Forni (Ferrario *et al.*, 2017), and we suggest that some contaminants may constitute an additional carbon source for specific bacterial strains.

(e) Consumers

Consumers on the Forni Glacier include both protists and metazoans. While heterotrophic protists often are primary consumers, the classification of members of either group into a specific trophic consumer level is complicated. Lack of information about the diet and foraging behaviour of many of these taxa, for example in springtails, protists and tardigrades, is a key omission.

Heterotrophic microeukaryotes such as cercozoans of the families Rhogostomidae, Gymnophryidae, Euglyphidae and Cercomonadidae were detected in cryoconite holes (Zawierucha et al., 2022; Tables S2 and S3). Rhogostomidae, Euglyphidae and Cercomonadidae are considered omnivorous (Khanipour Roshan et al., 2021). Rhogostomidae feed on bacteria and algae (Dumack et al., 2017), Euglyphidae on Andean glaciers feed on algae and yeasts among other unidentified food content (Santibáñez et al., 2011), while the feeding behaviour of Gymnophyridae is poorly known. Therefore, ascribing these taxa to a precise consumer level is extremely difficult. Our eDNA data confirmed the presence of the Rhogostomidae Capsellina sp., Chlamydophrvidae, and Rhogostoma sp. 1966/2, and the Heteromitidae (cercozoans) Heteromita sp., Heteromita globosa and various Bodomorpha (especially of the family Viridiraptoridae) (Tables S2 and S3). Interestingly, Heteromita globosa was detected in Antarctic lakes (Hawthorn & Ellis-Evans, 1984), Capsellina in subglacial ecosystems in Canada (Hamilton et al., 2013), and Viridiraptoridae in the Pyrenées (García-Descalzo et al., 2013). eDNA also detected the presence of other protists such as Spumella sp., which is often found in the pelagic zone of lakes (Pernthaler & Posch, 2009), and various Ciliophora (e.g. Paramecium and Stichotrichia), which are often omnivorous (Giachello et al., 2023).

Invertebrate consumers on the Forni Glacier strongly segregate by habitat. Cryoconite holes are dominated by cryophilic, black tardigrades (Tardigrada) of the species Cryobiotus klebelsbergi (Zawierucha et al., 2019a, 2021). In coarser fractions of supraglacial debris, including under stones on the ice surface, springtails (Hexapoda: Collembola) are dominant (Buda et al., 2020a), while rotifers (Rotifera) are distributed patchily (Zawierucha et al., 2019a). Cryobiotus klebelsbergi was found in cryoconite holes on the Forni Glacier in seven summers (2012, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022) at densities up to 172 ind./ml (mean 48 ind./ml) (Zawierucha et al., 2019a, b, 2021, 2022). The frequency of this species is surprisingly high, as it was detected in 100% of the investigated cryoconite holes (Zawierucha et al., 2019a, b). The dry biomass of black tardigrades in cryoconite reached 75 μ g/cm², with an average of 12.28 μ g/cm² (Novotná Jaroměřská et al., 2023). The mean dry biomass of springtails was similar (12.68 μ g/cm²), however, springtail biomass peaked at 151.90 µg/cm² under stones (Novotná Jaroměřská et al., 2023). The occurrence of bdelloid rotifers in cryoconite is very low compared to tardigrades (only a few specimens among hundreds of tardigrades). However, they are more common in bryophytes on the supraglacial boulders, where they are found in around 20% of bryophytes on supraglacial stones and debris (Zawierucha et al., 2019a).

Springtails are the dominant terrestrial invertebrates on the Forni (Buda *et al.*, 2020*a*). On bare ice the dominant species is Vertagopus glacialis, a newly described species of ice-dwelling springtail (Valle et al., 2024). Other species detected in supraglacial coarse debris are Orchesella cf. alticola and Pachyotoma crassicauda (Table S1). Specimens of the family Isotomidae (represented on the ice surface mainly by Vertagopus glacialis; Valle et al., 2024) are mostly found at the ice-stone interface on this glacier, and at extremely high densities (155,000 ind./m²; Buda et al., 2020a), suggesting they play an important role in the cycling of OM and energy flow on the glacier (Buda et al., 2020a). Ice-dwelling springtails feed on dispersed crvoconite on the glacier surface, with gut analysis showing a high pollen intake on Austrian glaciers (Kopeszki, 1988). Accordingly, they have been classified into the herbivorousdetritivorous trophic level, similar to tardigrades, by stable isotope analyses (Novotná Jaroměřská et al., 2023). However,

no further details about their diet and foraging behaviour are available. Whether springtails also feed opportunistically on bacteria and heterotrophic microeukaryotes in cryoconite remains unknown. This current lack of information hinders their classification into a particular consumer level. In the forelands of other Alpine glaciers, springtails represent the most important prey for both carabid beetles belonging to the genus *Nebria* and spiders of the genus *Pardosa* (Sint *et al.*, 2019), and it is very likely that the same is true on the ice surface of the Forni Glacier (see below). This would suggest that springtails link the microfauna to both apex predators (Fig. 2). Current knowledge indicates that, given the low redundancy of the macrofaunal component of the ecological network of the Forni, this link is limited to springtails.

The microbial communities in cryoconite holes are grazed upon by tardigrades of the species *Cryobiotus klebelsbergi*



Fig. 2. Trophic web for the supraglacial habitat of the Forni reconstructed using published information for this specific site, together with dietary studies on the same species in similar areas on other mountain ranges. Dashed lines indicate trophic interactions not described in the literature that are suggested by the authors. *N. castanea, Nebria castanea; P. saturatior, Pardosa saturatior, C. klebelsbergi, Cryobiotus klebelsbergi.* Abundance data are from Buda *et al.* (2020*a*) [1], Zawierucha *et al.* (2019*a*) [2], and Turchetti *et al.* (2008) [3]. Other abundance data are from our own calculations (see Section III.1.*e*).

(Zawierucha et al., 2022), also detected in wet supraglacial debris, and sporadically in dirt cones (Zawierucha et al., 2019a). Zawierucha et al. (2022) identified Flavobacterium, 11 other bacterial taxa, the algal classes Trebouxiophyceae, Xanthophyceae, and fungi (Preussia sp.) as possible food sources for C. klebelsbergi. Allochthonous OM probably also forms part of the diet of this species. In laboratory cultures, C. klebelsbergi actively feeds on Chlorella sp. (Zawierucha et al., 2023) and this same genus of eukaryotic green algae was detected on the Forni in our eDNA analysis. Tardigrades were allocated to the herbivorous-detritivorous trophic level by stable isotope analyses, as for springtails (Novotná Jaroměřská et al., 2023). However, potential bacterial and fungal food sources indicate that C. klebelsbergi may be more omnivorous than herbivorous, as would be predicted from morphological analysis alone (Zawierucha et al., 2022). Therefore, their ecological role in cryoconite holes can be better identified as apex consumers.

Gobbi *et al.* (2006*a*,*b*, 2007) detected two predators at the adult stage on the ice surface: the carabid beetle *Nebria casta-nea* (seven specimens sampled by six pitfall traps on the medial moraine and two specimens sampled by six pitfall traps on the stony debris covering the glacier over 90 days) and the wolf spider *Pardosa saturatior* (three specimens sampled by six pitfall traps on the medial moraine over 90 days, and several specimens observed in summer 2004 and 2005, on ice, supraglacial debris, and in small bediérès). We estimated the abundance of these species, assuming that each pitfall trap collects from an area of 78.5 m² (in agreement with movement range estimates by Raso *et al.*, 2014), to be 0.015 ind/m² on the medial moraine and 0.004 ind/m² on the bare ice for *N. castanea*, and 0.006 ind/m² with no estimate possible for the bare ice for *P. saturatior* (Fig. 2).

During summer 2023, three adult sheet-weaver spiders (Arachnida: Linyphiidae) were sampled by eight pitfall traps located on the median moraines. Three more individuals were sampled by hand searching under isolated stones. Following the same procedure as given above, their abundance was estimated at 0.05 ind/m² on the medial moraine. Given their small size and their ability to disperse on the glacier by ballooning, their abundance may have been underestimated in previous studies based on pitfall traps, which capture larger prey more effectively.

Sint *et al.* (2019) investigated the diet composition of predators in the proglacial plains of three glaciers in the Gaisberg, Rotmoos, and Lang valleys of Tyrol. They showed that Linyphiidae feed on collembolans and are preyed upon by the larger predators N. *castanea* and P. *saturatior*. These trophic relations are conserved in later pioneer stages – when the range of available prey increases – and trophic relations are mostly influenced by predator species, rather than time since deglaciation (Sint *et al.*, 2019). This suggests that they may also apply on the Forni Glacier, where prey availability is lower. Therefore, we suggest that Linyphiidae are higher-level consumers and N. *castanea* and P. *saturatior* are best classified as apex predators.

Nebria castanea and Pardosa saturation are ground-dwellers. N. castanea is wingless (Gobbi et al., 2007), while P. saturation does not balloon and is therefore unable to disperse by wind (Gobbi et al., 2011). Consequently, both have very low dispersal ability, and their persistence for multiple years on the glacier surface suggests stability of their ecological and food niches. In visual surveys during summer 2023, a larva of Nebria castanea was observed under stones on the glacier surface (Table S1); suggesting that this species completes its life cycle on the glacier surface. Both species are cold adapted, but N. castanea is nocturnal, while P. saturatior is diurnal (Gobbi et al., 2006a). This temporal niche segregation may be key to their co-existence on the Forni, as it may prevent competitive exclusion. In proglacial plains in Austria, springtails were the most frequent prey for both N. castanea and P. saturatior, representing up to 50% of their diet (Sint et al., 2019). Similar results were obtained by previous studies in the same area, with springtails representing an important share of prev for both N. castanea and Pardosa spiders in early (0 to 7 years ice-free) and late (12 to 20 years ice-free) pioneer stages (Raso et al., 2014). This suggests that the diet of these species remains constant even among sites with different prey availability. It seems reasonable therefore, to assume that this would also be the case on the glacier surface, with the caveat that the range of prey available on the glacier surface is narrower than in proglacial plains. Given the predominance of springtails as prey shown by feeding analyses for N. castanea and P. saturatior at other sites, and the high abundance of springtails on the Forni Glacier (Buda et al., 2020a), it is highly likely that they represent the most frequent prey also on the bare ice surface. Moreover, in environments where less extraguild prey is available, intraguild predation gains importance (Lucas & Rosenheim, 2011; Polis & McCormick, 1987). In pioneer stages, spiders of the genus Pardosa represent important prey for both N. castanea and P. saturatior, and intraguild predation contributes up to 30% of total prev (Sint et al., 2019). Finally, approximately 30% of dietary composition was represented by allochthonous prey (Sint *et al.*, 2019), which might also be the case on the Forni Glacier.

(f) Supraglacial environment: shifts in community dynamics

Glaciers are highly dynamic habitats, especially during the melting season. Due to the high melting rate (about 3-4 m water equivalent of seasonal ice melting; Senese et al., 2020), the depth and area of cryoconite holes increases during the ablation season (Franzetti et al., 2017b). Such changes can affect the composition of microbial communities within cryoconite holes during the ablation season (Franzetti et al., 2017b), with a pattern consistent with ecological succession - starting from colonisation by autotrophs (e.g. Cyanobacteria) and other poikilo-tolerant taxa (e.g. Clostridiales). After the microhabitats have been altered by autotrophs and stress-resistant taxa, and the availability of organic carbon and dissolved oxygen in the water increases, other heterotrophic populations, for example Burkholderiales and Sphingobacteriales, tend to outcompete the pioneer taxa (Franzetti et al., 2017b). In addition, because of mixing by meltwater and other physical forces, the distribution of tardigrades and probably other invertebrates at the bottom of cryoconite holes is highly heterogeneous, likely impacting productivity and biodiversity at specific locations in benthic habitats (Zawierucha *et al.*, 2019*b*). Such high levels of dynamism of these communities implies that the intensity of trophic interactions may shift accordingly, and therefore a complete representation of supraglacial community dynamics may be difficult to achieve.

Likely due to seeding processes, the bacterial communities of cryoconite holes on the Forni Glacier are slightly different each melting season (Pittino *et al.*, 2018). These shifts in the composition of bacterial communities across years shows that the bacterial component of the Forni Glacier's trophic web is diverse and exhibits redundancy. Consistently, numerous studies (Franzetti *et al.*, 2016, 2017*a,b*; Azzoni *et al.*, 2018; Pittino *et al.*, 2018, 2021, 2023*b*) show rich autotrophic and heterotrophic communities in different glacial habitats and all light and oxygen conditions. Metabolic pathways include oxygenic and anoxygenic photosynthesis, chitin assimilation, CO oxidation, aerobic respiration, nitrification and denitrification, and sulphur and hydrogen oxidation (e.g. Pittino *et al.*, 2021).

The long-term stability of invertebrate communities is more difficult to assess, especially for taxa for which fewer data are available. *Cryobiotus klebelsbergi* was found consistently to be the dominant microinvertebrate in cryoconite holes on the Forni Glacier across a 10-year span (Zawierucha *et al.*, 2019*a*,*b*, 2021, 2022). Similarly, a few individuals of \mathcal{N} castanea were detected from 2004 to 2023 (Gobbi *et al.*, 2006*a*; Table S1), indicating a stable presence on the glacier. Due to the smaller amount of data, a temporal comparison is impossible for *P. saturatior* and sheet-weaver spiders. In general, due to the low densities of \mathcal{N} . castanea, *P. saturatior* and sheet-weaver spiders, detecting any trend in population dynamics is complicated.

(2) Englacial environment

Englacial habitats encompass gas bubbles, bulk ice, veins of liquid water, englacial channels, and debris within the ice. These environments are linked to the surface by water percolation and may play a role in cycling of organic carbon (Fig. 3). Given the temperate thermal regime of the Forni, we expect the englacial environment to host viable communities (Varliero et al., 2021). Current knowledge about biodiversity within the ice of the Forni Glacier is extremely sparse, and reconstructing trophic interactions is impossible. Information on biodiversity in this environment is currently limited to yeasts (Turchetti et al., 2008). The bulk ice of the Forni is poorer than meltwater, supraglacial and subglacial sediments both in cell count and species diversity (Turchetti et al., 2008), in line with other glaciers studied worldwide (e.g. Butinar, Spencer-Martins, & Gunde-Cimerman, 2007). The only species detected in this environment are Goffeauzyma gilvescens and Rhodotorula laryngis. G. gilvescens was also detected in the supraglacial and subglacial environments of the Forni Glacier (Turchetti et al., 2008). Its wide distribution within the study site, unique for the detected yeasts, warrants further investigation. In Himalayan sites, G. gilvescens showed the ability to solubilise phosphate and silicate (Sanyal et al., 2020). These enzymatic activities may be significant in the englacial environment, where the OM contribution from the surface is highly dependent on meltwaters and shows strong seasonal variability. Moreover, the Forni Glacier is surrounded by siliceous rock formations, whose weathering would provide



Fig. 3. Fluxes of metabolic substrates on the glacier and the metabolic pathways that exploit them. Organisms performing each of the pathways are represented using the same icons as in Fig. 2. AOM, allochtonous organic matter; DOM, dissolved organic matter; MM, mineral matter; supragl. sed, supraglacial sediment; subgl. sed., subglacial sediment; TOC, total organic carbon; TON, total organic nitrogen; TOP, total organic phosphorus. ***** = debris coverage rate from Azzoni *et al.* (2016); **#** = average colony forming units (CFU) g^{-1} dry mass for sediments, CFU ml⁻¹ for ice, and chemical properties of DOM (as TOC, TON, TOP) from Turchetti *et al.* (2008); **+** = estimated deposition rate of allochthonous aeroplankton, estimated from air traps data from Zawierucha *et al.* (2019*a*).

abundant substrates for these enzymes. Such activities would make *G. gilvescens* a primary producer within the englacial habitat. However, these metabolic pathways have not yet been studied on the Forni Glacier. Like other englacial habitats around the world (Boetius *et al.*, 2015), bulk ice and ice veins of the Forni Glacier are probably inhabited by bacteria, but no reports are available.

(3) Subglacial environment

Very little information is available about the subglacial environment of the Forni Glacier. Two studies have investigated the occurrence of veasts in subglacial sediments (Turchetti et al., 2008) and subglacial meltwater flow (Buzzini et al., 2005). Subglacial sediments were characterised by a greater number of yeast species than supraglacial debris and ice (Turchetti et al., 2008), making it the richest habitat within the Forni in terms of number of yeast species (Turchetti et al., 2008). Two species belonging to the genus Phenoliferia (formerly Rhodotorula; Wang et al., 2015) -P. glacialis and P. psychrophenolica - were detected together with Leucosporidium creatinivorum (formerly R. creatinivora; de García et al., 2015), Solicoccozyma terricola, Goffeauzyma gilvescens, and Mrakia gelida. Many of these species showed positive enzymatic activity for esterase (G. gilvescens, R. laryngis, P. glacialis), lipase (G. gilvescens, P. glacialis, R. larynges), and protease (M. gelida, P. glacialis, P. psychrophenolica) on the Forni and another Alpine glacier (Turchetti et al., 2008). No data are available regarding the activity of L. creatinivorum on the Forni Glacier. In samples from Antarctica, it has shown activity for esterase, lipase, and protease (Martorell et al., 2017). The pool of DOM in glaciers is composed of organic compounds such as lignin, cellulose, proteins, and carbohydrates (Antony et al., 2014; Feng et al., 2016). Thus, the detected enzymatic activities suggest that these yeasts use DOM as a substrate for at least part of their energy intake. The input of DOM would occur through meltwaters, drained in moulins from the surface to the bedrock, where it circulates through the subglacial drainage system. However, given the high rate of sediment production due to the action of the glacier, it is reasonable to expect mineral matter to be another important substrate in this habitat. Indeed, there is evidence that weathering produces enough H₂ to sustain the rates of methanogenesis estimated in subglacial habitats - and to be particularly productive where the bedrock is rich in mica (Macdonald et al., 2018), as is the case for the Forni Glacier. However, methanogenesis beneath the Forni has not been investigated yet. Bacteria inhabiting anoxic zones in cryoconite holes could seed the subglacial ecosystems through the system of microchannels, streams and moulins as on other glaciers (Zdanowski et al., 2017).

IV. DISCUSSION

The identification of trophic relationships is important in understanding the functioning of an ecosystem. It contributes to highlighting the ecological roles and services provided by different taxa and thus to identifying possible responses to changes in an ecosystem (Schwartz et al., 2000; Wagg et al., 2019). As shown by our reconstruction of trophic relationships on the Forni Glacier (Fig. 2), (supra)glacial ecosystems require high specialisation and nodes represented by invertebrate species have low redundancy, implying that the disappearance of one species might pose a serious threat to the entire trophic web (Sanders et al., 2018). By contrast, the bacterial communities in different habitats of the Forni Glacier are diverse and show redundancy (Franzetti et al., 2016, 2017a,b; Azzoni et al., 2018; Pittino et al., 2018, 2021). Bacteria take part in both decomposition of OM and primary production, with many bacterial strains supporting similar functions. Therefore, bacterial communities are unlikely to be as fragile as invertebrate communities. In the trophic web of the Forni, specific invertebrate species seem to play a key role in each supraglacial habitat. On the bare ice surface and in coarse debris, ice-dwelling springtails link the microbial flora to top predators. Ice-dwelling springtail populations thus appear to be an irreplaceable node in the ice and coarse debris components of the Forni trophic network. By contrast, tardigrades play an important role in cryoconite holes, where they are the apex consumers. Given the importance of these populations, we suggest that further research should focus on determining the intensity of their interactions with other taxa. Indeed, the lack of quantitative information on matter and energy fluxes on this and other glaciers allows only a basic understanding of the interactions within the community. In addition, the roles of springtails and tardigrades on the Forni might be performed by other species on glaciers in different geographical areas. For instance, a key role could be played by ice worms in the Pacific Northwest of the USA (Hotaling et al., 2020), by rotifers where they are prevalent (e.g. Zawierucha et al., 2021), or by more complex invertebrate communities such as in the Southern Alps of New Zealand (Shain et al., 2021). For many areas, there has been little taxonomic classification of glacieradapted species, increasing the difficulties of identifying key species.

Glaciers act as cold traps for contaminants, which can promote the selection of bacterial strains with metabolic pathways for their degradation (Cappa et al., 2014). Biodegradation of contaminants by bacterial communities has been demonstrated on the Forni (e.g. Ferrario et al., 2017). This has implications for the trophic web of the Forni, but also suggests that the ecological communities of glaciers may provide ecosystem services that are yet to be fully investigated. Due to this, the effects of the degraded contaminants on the glacier and down-valley communities might differ from those of the original compounds. Organisms could still bioaccumulate and biomagnify the non-degraded contaminants on the ice surface, which may affect their behaviour and metabolism as demonstrated for aquatic and terrestrial arthropods (Gobbi & Lencioni, 2021; Lencioni et al., 2023a,b; Rizzi et al., 2022). Buda et al. (2024) showed the bioaccumulation of artificial radionuclides in springtails and a link with chlorophyll concentration on glaciers along the Alps, including the Forni Glacier. Undegraded, or partially degraded, contaminants could also be released by meltwaters – damaging downstream ecosystems – or be re-volatilised. Therefore, reconstructing the metabolic pathways and trophic webs on the glacier surface would help us to assess the fate of such contaminants, potential effects, and hazards also for non-glacial ecosystems (Beard *et al.*, 2022).

The retreat of glaciers will likely cause the extinction of glacier-specialist taxa (Stibal et al., 2020). Species present in peri-glacial environments (e.g. glacier forelands) will also be affected by the reduced ice mass influence on microclimatic conditions such as temperature, winds, and snow persistence. For example, *Nebria castanea* is already extinct in the forelands of the Forni Glacier (Gobbi et al., 2007), while a population is still present on the ice surface (Gobbi et al., 2007; Table S1) and in colder forelands of other nearby glaciers (Gobbi et al., 2010). Finally, the study of the ecological communities can also provide a better understanding of the influence they may have on glaciological processes and their future development. Dark OM and pigmented supraglacial organisms can reduce glacier albedo and increase ice melting. In turn, the presence of a film of liquid water triggers the growth of organisms, causing a positive bioalbedo feedback loop (Di Mauro et al., 2020). However, increased supraglacial runoff can result in the removal of organisms (e.g. Zawierucha, Buda & Nawrot, 2019c).

Although the Forni Glacier is a well-studied site, some information is still lacking: first, in terms of the description and quantification of biodiversity and interactions, and second in terms of habitats. This review has provided a qualitative description of the trophic webs, partly based on the assumption that certain species on the Forni Glacier are likely to perform similarly to their conspecifics in other regions and/or peri-glacial habitats (such as proglacial plains). Further data are needed to confirm or reject this assumption. Moreover, currently missing information about the biodiversity of englacial and subglacial habitats prevents us from reaching an overview of the trophic relations and biogeochemical cycles in the entire ice body. Mechanisms that could play a role in regulating the bacterial communities and their interactions - such as the presence of viruses - also remain to be investigated on the Forni Glacier. This study aims to lay the foundations for future, more detailed studies that could offer a more comprehensive description of this fragile habitat.

V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) To the best of our knowledge, this is the first attempt to provide information about glacier biodiversity using a multi-taxon approach and to reconstruct the trophic web of a glacier. It is essentially a qualitative attempt, partly based on results from other glaciers and adjacent habitats. Further investigations remain needed, for instance using stable isotope analysis of gut contents to provide information on the diet of key organisms.

(2) Due to the rapid retreat of glaciers, their cold-adapted inhabitants are strongly threatened by climate change. Improving knowledge of the biodiversity and the interactions among various glacier taxa could help predict the critical thresholds of minimum surface and population size beyond which the community will collapse. Such a collapse may in turn impact the surrounding high-altitude environments that may benefit from the glacier's resources.

(3) To protect taxa adapted to glaciers or to the microclimatic conditions they induce in nearby environments, and to model future changes, it is important to increase our knowledge of trophic relations within glaciers and their links to surrounding environments.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by PRIN Grant 2020YKH9RS 'Cold Case: the disappearing biodiversity of Italian glaciers' and European Research Council under the European Community's Horizon 2020 Programme, Grant 772284 (IceCommunities), by Biodiversa+, the European Biodiversity Partnership under the 2021–2022 BiodivProtect joint call for research proposals, co-funded by the European Commission (PrioritIce; no. 101052342).

VII. DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All additional data described in this review are available at: https://doi.org/10.13130/RD_UNIMI/9PPBAB. Raw demultiplexed data of V9 18S rDNA amplicon sequencing is available under accession numbers SRR28791032 to SRR28791041 of the NCBI project PRJNA1091145.

VIII. REFERENCES

- References identified with an asterisk (*) are cited only within the online Supporting Information.
- ACHBERGER, A. M., MICHAUD, A. B., VICK-MAJORS, T. J., CHRISTNER, B. C., SKIDMORE, M. L., PRISCU, J. C. & TRANTER, M. (2017). Microbiology of subglacial environments. In *Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology*, pp. 83–110. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- ANESIO, A. M. & LAYBOURN-PARRY, J. (2012). Glaciers and ice sheets as a biome. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 27(4), 219–225.
- ANTONY, R., GRANNAS, A. M., WILLOUGHBY, A. S., SLEIGHTER, R. L., THAMBAN, M. & HATCHER, P. G. (2014). Origin and sources of dissolved organic matter in snow on the East Antarctic Ice Sheet. *Environmental Science & Technology* 48(11), 6151–6159.
- AZZONI, R. S., FUGAZZA, D., ZERBONI, A., SENESE, A., D'AGATA, C., MARAGNO, D., CARZANIGA, A., CERNUSCHI, M. & DIOLAIUTI, G. A. (2018). Evaluating highresolution remote sensing data for reconstructing the recent evolution of supraglacial debris. *Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment* 42(1), 3–23.
- AZZONI, R. S., SENESE, A., ZERBONI, A., MAUGERI, M., SMIRAGLIA, C. & DIOLAIUTI, G. A. (2016). Estimating ice albedo from fine debris cover quantified by a semi-automatic method: the case study of Forni Glacier, Italian Alps. *The* Cryosphere **10**(2), 665–679.

- BARDISCHEWSKY, F. & FRIEDRICH, C. G. (2001). The shxVW locus is essential for oxidation of inorganic sulfur and molecular hydrogen by Paracoccus pantotrophus GB17: a novel function for lithotrophy. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 202(2), 215–220.
- BEARD, D. B., CLASON, C. C., RANGECROFT, S., PONIECKA, E., WARD, K. J. & BLAKE, W. H. (2022). Anthropogenic contaminants in glacial environments II: release and downstream consequences. *Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment* 46(5), 790–808.
- BOETIUS, A., ANESIO, A. M., DEMING, J. W., MIKUCKI, J. A. & RAPP, J. Z. (2015). Microbial ecology of the cryosphere: sea ice and glacial habitats. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 13(11), 677–690.
- BOOTHROYD, I. & CRANSTON, P. (1999). The 'Ice Worm' the immature stages, phylogeny and biology of the glacier midge *Zelandochlus* (Diptera: Chironomidae). *Aquatic Insects* 21(4), 303–316.
- BOSSON, J. B., HUSS, M., CAUVY-FRAUNIÉ, S., CLÉMENT, J. C., COSTES, G., FISCHER, M., POULENARD, J. & ARTHAUD, F. (2023). Future emergence of new ecosystems caused by glacial retreat. *Nature* 620(7974), 562–569.
- *BOYER, F., MERCIER, C., BONIN, A., LE BRAS, Y., TABERLET, P. & COISSAC, E. (2016). obitools: a unix-inspired software package for DNA metabarcoding. *Molecular Ecology Resources* **16**(1), 176–182.
- BROOKS, W., BOERSMA, J., PAPROCKI, N., WIMBERGER, P. & HOTALING, S. (2023). Community science for enigmatic ecosystems: using eBird to assess avian biodiversity on glaciers and snowfields. *Journal of Field Omithology* 94(1), art6.
- BROWN, S. P., OLSON, B. J. & JUMPPONEN, A. (2015). Fungi and algae co-occur in snow: an issue of shared habitat or algal facilitation of heterotrophs? *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research* 47, 729–749.
- BUDA, J., AZZONI, R. S., AMBROSINI, R., FRANZETTI, A. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2020a). Effects of locality and stone surface structure on the distribution of Collembola inhabiting a novel habitat – the stone-ice border on an alpine glacier. Acta Oecologica 108, 103629.
- BUDA, J., ŁOKAS, E., BłAŻEJ, S., GORZKIEWICZ, K., BUDA, K., AMBROSINI, R., FRANZETTI, A., PITTINO, F., CROSTA, A., KLIMASZYK, P. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2024). Unveiling threats to glacier biota: bioaccumulation, mobility, and interactions of radioisotopes with key biological components. *Chemosphere* **348**, 140738.
- BUDA, J., ŁOKAS, E., PIETRYKA, M., RICHTER, M., MAGOWSKI, W., IAKOVENKO, N. S., PORAZINSKA, D. L., BUDZIK, T., GRABIEC, M., GRZESIAK, J., KLIMASZYK, P., GACA, P. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2020b). Biotope and biocenosis of cryoconite hole ecosystems on Ecology Glacier in the maritime Antarctic. Science of the Total Environment 724, 138112.
- BUDA, J., PONIECKA, E. A., ROZWALAK, P., AMBROSINI, R., BAGSHAW, E. A., FRANZETTI, A., KLIMASZYK, P., NAWROT, A., PIETRYKA, M., RICHTER, D. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2022). Is oxygenation related to the decomposition of organic matter in cryoconite holes? *Ecosystems* 25(7), 1510–1521.
- BUTINAR, L., SPENCER-MARTINS, I. & GUNDE-CIMERMAN, N. (2007). Yeasts in high Arctic glaciers: the discovery of a new habitat for eukaryotic microorganisms. *Antonie* Van Leeuvenhoek 91, 277–289.
- BUZZINI, P., TURCHETTI, B., DIOLAIUTI, G., D'AGATA, C. & MARTINI, A. (2005). Culturable yeasts in meltwaters draining from two glaciers in the Italian Alps. *Annals of Glaciology* **40**, 119–122.
- CALLAHAN, B. J., MCMURDIE, P. J., ROSEN, M. J., HAN, A. W., JOHNSON, A. J. A. & HOLMES, S. P. (2016). DADA2: high-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods* 13(7), 581–583.
- CAPPA, F., SUCIU, N., TREVISAN, M., FERRARI, S., PUGLISI, E. & COCCONCELLI, P. S. (2014). Bacterial diversity in a contaminated Alpine glacier as determined by culture-based and molecular approaches. *Science of the Total Environment* **497–498**, 50–59.
- COOK, J., EDWARDS, A., TAKEUCHI, N. & IRVINE-FYNN, T. (2016). Cryoconite. Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment 40(1), 66–111.
- CORTINI PEDROTTI, C. (2001). Flora dei muschi d'Italia. Sphagnopsida, Andreaeopsida, Bryopsida (I parte). Antonio Delfino Editore, Rome.
- CORTINI PEDROTTI, C. (2005). Flora dei muschi d'Italia. Bryopsida (II parte). Antonio Delfino Editore, Rome.
- COULSON, S. J., HODKINSON, I. D. & WEBB, N. R. (2003). Aerial dispersal of invertebrates over a high-Arctic glacier foreland: Midtre Lovénbreen, Svalbard. *Polar Biology* 26(8), 530–537.
- *DE BARBA, M., MIQUEL, C., BOYER, F., MERCIER, C., RIOUX, D., COISSAC, E. & TABERLET, P. (2014). DNA metabarcoding multiplexing and validation of data accuracy for diet assessment: application to omnivorous diet. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 14, 306–323.
- DE GARCÍA, V., COELHO, M. A., MAIA, T. M., ROSA, L. H., VAZ, A. M., ROSA, C. A., SAMPAIO, J. P., GONÇALVES, P., VAN BROOCK, M. & LIBKIND, D. (2015). Sex in the cold: taxonomic reorganization of psychrotolerant yeasts in the order Leucosporidiales. *FEMS Yeast Research* 15(4), fov019.
- DHUME, G. M., TSUJI, M. & SINGH, S. M. (2022). Identification of fungal communities isolated from Himalayan glacier cryoconites. *Sustainability* 14(22), 14814.

- DI MAURO, B., GARZONIO, R., BACCOLO, G., FRANZETTI, A., PITTINO, F., LEONI, B., REMIAS, D., COLOMBO, R. & ROSSINI, M. (2020). Glacier algae foster ice-albedo feedback in the European Alps. *Scientific Reports* **10**, 4739.
- DUMACK, K., ÖZTOPRAK, H., RÜGER, L. & BONKOWSKI, M. (2017). Shedding light on the polyphyletic thecate amoeba genus *Plagiophrys*: transition of some of its species to *Rhizaspis* (Tectofilosida, Thecofilosea, Cercozoa) and the establishment of *Sacciforma* gen. nov. and Rhogostomidae fam. nov. (Cryomonadida, Thecofilosea, Cercozoa). *Protist* 168(1), 92–108.
- EDWARDS, A., DOUGLAS, B., ANESIO, A. M., RASSNER, S. M., IRVINE-FYNN, T. D. L., SATTLER, B. & GRIFFITH, G. W. (2013). A distinctive fungal community inhabiting cryoconite holes on glaciers in Svalbard. *Fungal Ecology* 6(2), 168–176.
- FENG, L., XU, J., KANG, S., LI, X., LI, Y., JIANG, B. & SHI, Q. (2016). Chemical composition of microbe-derived dissolved organic matter in cryoconite in Tibetan Plateau glaciers: insights from Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry analysis. *Environmental Science & Technology* 50(24), 13215–13223.
- FERRARIO, C., PITTINO, F., TAGLIAFERRI, I., GANDOLFI, I., BESTETTI, G., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., FRANZETTI, A., AMBROSINI, R. & VILLA, S. (2017). Bacteria contribute to pesticide degradation in cryoconite holes in an Alpine glacier. *Environmental Pollution* 230, 919–926.
- *FICETOLA, G. F., MANENTI, R. & TABERLET, P. (2019). Environmental DNA and metabarcoding for the study of amphibians and reptiles: species distribution, the microbiome, and much more. *Amphibia-Reptilia* 40(2), 129–148.
- FICETOLA, G. F., MARTA, S., GUERRIERI, A., GOBBI, M., AMBROSINI, R., FONTANETO, D., ZERBONI, A., POULENARD, J., CACCIANIGA, M. & THUILLER, W. (2021). Dynamics of ecological communities following current retreat of glaciers. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 52(1), 405–426.
- *FICETOLA, G. F., PANSU, J., BONIN, A., COISSAC, E., GIGUET-COVEX, C., DE BARBA, M., GIELLY, L., LOPES, C. M., BOYER, F., POMPANON, F., RAYÉ, G. & TABERLET, P. (2015). Replication levels, false presences and the estimation of the presence/absence from eDNA metabarcoding data. *Moleculary Ecology Resources* 15, 543–556.
- FLØ, D. & HÅGVAR, S. (2013). Aerial dispersal of invertebrates and mosses close to a receding alpine glacier in Southern Norway. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 45(4), 481–490.
- FRANZETTI, A., NAVARRA, F., TAGLIAFERRI, I., GANDOLFI, I., BESTETTI, G., MINORA, U., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., SMIRAGLIA, C. & AMBROSINI, R. (2017a). Potential sources of bacteria colonizing the cryoconite of an Alpine glacier. *PLoS One* 12(3), e0174786.
- FRANZETTI, A., NAVARRA, F., TAGLIAFERRI, I., GANDOLFI, I., BESTETTI, G., MINORA, U., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., SMIRAGLIA, C. & AMBROSINI, R. (2017b). Temporal variability of bacterial communities in cryoconite on an alpine glacier. *Environmental Microbiology Reports* 9(2), 71–78.
- FRANZETTI, A., PITTINO, F., GANDOLFI, I., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., SMIRAGLIA, C., PELFINI, M., COMPOSTELLA, C., TURCHETTI, B., BUZZINI, P. & AMBROSINI, R. (2020). Early ecological succession patterns of bacterial, fungal and plant communities along a chronosequence in a recently deglaciated area of the Italian Alps. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* **96**(10), fiaa165.
- FRANZETTI, A., TAGLIAFERRI, I., GANDOLFI, I., BESTETTI, G., MINORA, U., MAYER, C., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., SMIRAGLIA, C. & AMBROSINI, R. (2016). Light-dependent microbial metabolisms drive carbon fluxes on glacier surfaces. *The ISME Journal* 10(12), 2984–2988.
- GARCÍA-DESCALZO, L., GARCÍA-LÓPEZ, E., POSTIGO, M., BAQUERO, F., ALCAZAR, A. & CID, C. (2013). Eukaryotic microorganisms in cold environments: examples from Pyrenean glaciers. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **4**, 55. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fmicb.2013.00055.
- GIACHELLO, S., CANTERA, I., CARTERON, A., MARTA, S., CIPRIANO, C., GUERRIERI, A., BONIN, A., THUILLER, W. & FICETOLA, G. F. (2023). Toward a common set of functional traits for soil protists. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 187, 109207.
- GISIN, H. (1960). Collembolenfauna Europas. Museum d'Histoire Naturelle, Genève.
- GOBBI, M., AMBROSINI, R., CASAROTTO, C., DIOLAIUTI, G., FICETOLA, G. F., LENCIONI, V., SEPPI, R., SMIRAGLIA, C., TAMPUCCI, D., VALLE, B. & CACCIANIGA, M. (2021). Vanishing permanent glaciers: climate change is threatening a European Union habitat (Code 8340) and its poorly known biodiversity. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 30(7), 2267–2276.
- GOBBI, M., BALLARIN, F., BRAMBILLA, M., COMPOSTELLA, C., ISAIA, M., LOSAPIO, G., MAFFIOLETTI, C., SEPPI, R., TAMPUCCI, D. & CACCIANIGA, M. (2017). Life in harsh environments: carabid and spider trait types and functional diversity on a debris-covered glacier and along its foreland. *Ecological Entomology* 42(6), 838–848.
- GOBBI, M. & BRAMBILLA, M. (2016). Patterns of spatial autocorrelation in the distribution and diversity of carabid beetles and spiders along Alpine glacier forelands. *Italian Journal of Zoology* 83(4), 600–605.
- GOBBI, M., CACCIANIGA, M., CERABOLINI, B., BERNARDI, F., LUZZARO, A. & PIERCE, S. (2010). Plant adaptive responses during primary succession are

License

16

associated with functional adaptations in ground beetles on deglaciated terrain. Community Ecology 11, 223–231.

- GOBBI, M., DE BERNARDI, F., PELFINI, M., ROSSARO, B. & BRANDMAYR, P. (2006a). Epigean arthropod succession along a 154-year Glacier foreland chronosequence in the Forni Valley (Central Italian Alps). Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 38(3), 357–362.
- GOBBI, M., FONTANETO, D. & DE BERNARDI, F. (2006b). Climate impacts on animal communities in space and time: the case of spider assemblages along an alpine glacier foreland. *Global Change Biology* 12, 1985–1992.
- GOBBI, M., ISAIA, M. & DE BERNARDI, F. (2011). Arthropod colonisation of a debriscovered glacier. *The Holocene* 21(2), 343–349.
- GOBBI, M. & LENCIONI, V. (2021). Glacial biodiversity: lessons from ground-dwelling and aquatic insects. In *Glaciers and the Polar Environment*. IntechOpen, London. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.92826.
- GOBBI, M., ROSSARO, B., VATER, A., DE BERNARDI, F., PELFINI, M. & BRANDMAYR, P. (2007). Environmental features influencing Carabid beetle (Coleoptera) assemblages along a recently deglaciated area in the Alpine region. *Ecological Entomology* 32(6), 682–689.
- GOSTINČAR, C. & GUNDE-CIMERMAN, N. (2023). Understanding fungi in glacial and hypersaline environments. Annual Review in Microbiology 77, 89–109.
- GRANNAS, A. M., BOGDAL, C., HAGEMAN, K. J., HALSALL, C., HARNER, T., HUNG, H., KALLENBORN, R., KLÁN, P., KLÁNOVÁ, J., MACDONALD, R. W., MEYER, T. & WANIA, F. (2013). The role of the global cryosphere in the fate of organic contaminants. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* 13(6), 3271–3305.
- GREWLING, Ł., ŁANIECKI, R., JASTRZĘBSKI, M., BORKÓWSKA, J., MAREK, Z., KONDRAT, K., NOWAK, Z., ZACHARYASIEWICZ, M. A., MAŁECKA, M., VALLE, B., MESSYASZ, B. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2024). Dispersal of pollen and invertebrates by wind in contrasting Arctic habitats of Svalbard. *Polish Polar Research* **45**(1), 43–65.
- *GUARDIOLA, M., URIZ, M. J., TABERLET, P., COISSAC, E., WANGENSTEEN, S. & TURON, X. (2015). Deep-sea, deep-sequencing: Metabarcoding extracellular DNA from sediments of marine canyons. *PLoS One* 10, e139633.
- GUNDE-CIMERMAN, N., SONJAK, S., ZALAR, P., FRISVAD, J. C., DIDERICHSEN, B. & PLEMENITAŠ, A. (2003). Extremophilic fungi in arctic ice: a relationship between adaptation to low temperature and water activity. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, *Parts A/B/C* 28(28–32), 1273–1278.
- HAMILTON, T. L., PETERS, J. W., SKIDMORE, M. L. & BOYD, E. S. (2013). Molecular evidence for an active endogenous microbiome beneath glacial ice. *The ISME Journal* 7(7), 1402–1412.
- HASSAN, N., RAFIQ, M., HAYAT, M., SHAH, A. A. & HASAN, F. (2016). Psychrophilic and psychrotrophic fungi: a comprehensive review. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology* 15(2), 147–172.
- HAWTHORN, G. R. & ELLIS-EVANS, J. C. (1984). Benthic Protozoa from maritime Antarctic freshwater lakes and pools. *British Antarctic Survey Bulletin* 62, 67–81.
- HAYASHI, N. R., ISHIDA, T., YOKOTA, A., KODAMA, T. & IGARASHI, Y. (1999). Hydrogenophilus thermoluteolus gen. nov., sp. nov., a thermophilic, facultatively chemolithoautotrophic, hydrogen-oxidizing bacterium. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 49(2), 783–786.
- HODSON, A., ANESIO, A. M., TRANTER, M., FOUNTAIN, A., OSBORN, M., PRISCU, J., LAYBOURN-PARRY, J. & SATTLER, B. (2008). Glacial ecosystems. *Ecological Monographs* 78(1), 41–67.
- HOHAM, R. W. & REMIAS, D. (2020). Snow and glacial Algae: a Review. *Journal of Phycology* 56(2), 264–282.
- HOTALING, S., WIMBERGER, P. H., KELLEY, J. L. & WATTS, H. E. (2020). Macroinvertebrates on glaciers: a key resource for terrestrial food webs? *Ecology* 101(4), e02947.
- KHANIPOUR ROSHAN, S., DUMACK, K., BONKOWSKI, M., LEINWEBER, P., KARSTEN, U. & GLASER, K. (2021). Taxonomic and functional diversity of heterotrophic protists (Cercozoa and Endomyxa) from biological soil crusts. *Microorganisms* 9, 205.
- KOHSHIMA, S. (1985). Migration of the Himalayan wingless glacier midge (Diamesa sp.): slope direction assessment by sun-compassed straight walk. *Journal of Ethology* 3(2), 93–104.
- KOPESZKI, H. (1988). Zur Biologie zweier hochalpiner Collembolen Isotomurus palliceps (UZEL, 1891) und Isotoma saltans (NICOLET, 1841). Zoologischer Jahresbericht der Systematik 115, 405–439.
- KOZIOL, K. A., MOGGRIDGE, H. L., COOK, J. M. & HODSON, A. J. (2019). Organic carbon fluxes of a glacier surface: a case study of Foxfonna, a small Arctic glacier. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* 44, 405–416.
- LENCIONI, V., FRANCESCHINI, A., PAOLI, F. & DEBIASI, D. (2021). Structural and functional changes in the macroinvertebrate community in Alpine stream networks fed by shrinking glaciers. *Fundamental and Applied Limnology* **194**(3), 237–258.
- LENCIONI, V., FRANCESCHINI, A., PAOLI, F., LUTTON, A., OLESIK, J. & GABRIELLI, P. (2023a). Metal enrichment in ice-melt water and uptake by chironomids as possible legacy of World War One in the Italian Alps. *Chemosphere* 340, 139757.

LENCIONI, V., RIZZI, C., GOBBI, M., MUSTONI, A. & VILLA, S. (2023b). Glacier foreland insect uptake synthetic compounds: an emerging environmental concern. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 30, 113859–113873.

Arianna Crosta and others

- LENCIONI, V. & ROSSARO, B. (2005). Microdistribution of chironomids (Diptera: Chironomidae) in Alpine streams: an autoecological perspective. *Hydrobiologia* 533(1–3), 61–76.
- LI, Q., KANG, S., WANG, N., LI, Y., LI, X., DONG, Z. & CHEN, P. (2017). Composition and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in cryoconites of the Tibetan Plateau glaciers. *Science of the Total Environment* 574, 991–999.
- LIANG, Y. (1979). A new genus and species of Enchytracidae from Tibet. Acta Zootaxonomica Sinica 4, 312–315.
- LUCAS, É. & ROSENHEIM, J. A. (2011). Influence of extraguild prey density on intraguild predation by heteropteran predators: a review of the evidence and a case study. *Biological Control* 59(1), 61–67.
- MACDONALD, M. L., WADHAM, J. L., TELLING, J. & SKIDMORE, M. L. (2018). Glacial erosion liberates lithologic energy sources for microbes and acidity for chemical weathering beneath glaciers and ice sheets. *Frontiers in Earth Science* 6, 212.
- MAKOWSKA-ZAWIERUCHA, N., MOKRACKA, J., MAŁCKA, M., BALAZY, P., CHEŻCHOWSKI, M., IGNATIUK, D. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2022). Quantification of class 1 integrons and characterization of the associated gene cassettes in the high Arctic – interplay of humans and glaciers in shaping the aquatic resistome. *Ecological Indicators* 145, 109633.
- MARGESIN, R., ZACKE, G. & SCHINNER, F. (2002). Characterization of heterotrophic microorganisms in Alpine glacier cryoconite. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 34(1), 88–93.
- MARTORELL, M. M., RUBERTO, L. A. M., FERNÁNDEZ, P. M., CASTELLANOS DE FIGUEROA, L. I. & MAC CORMACK, W. P. (2017). Bioprospection of cold-adapted yeasts with biotechnological potential from Antarctica. *Journal of Basic Microbiology* 57(6), 504–516.
- MIECZAN, T., GÓRNIAK, D., ŚWIĄTECKI, A., ZDANOWSKI, M., TARKOWSKA-KUKURYK, M. & ADAMCZUK, M. (2013). Vertical microzonation of ciliates in cryoconite holes in Ecology Glacier, King George Island. *Polish Polar Research* 34, 201–212.
- MONTRASIO, A., BERRA, F., CARIBONI, M., CERIANI, M., DEICHMANN, N., FERLIGA, C., GREGNANIN, A., GUERRA, S., GUGLIELMIN, M., JADOUL, F., LONGHIN, M., MAIR, V., MAZZOCCOLA, D., SCIESA, E. & ZAPPONE, A. (2012). Note illustrative della carta geologica d'Italia alla scala 1:50.000, foglio 024 Bormio. *Progetto CARG.*
- NOVOTNÁ JAROMEŘSKÁ, T. N., AMBROSINI, R., MAZURKIEWICZ, M., FRANZETTI, A., KLIMASZYK, P., ROZWALAK, P., PONIECKA, E., VONDROVICOVÁ, L. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2023). Spatial distribution and stable isotopic composition of invertebrates uncover differences between habitats on the glacier surface in the Alps. *Linnology* 24, 83–93.
- *PANSU, J., GIGUET-COVEX, C., FICETOLA, G. F., GIELLY, L., BOYER, F., ZINGER, L., ARNAUD, F., POULENARD, J., TABERLET, P. & CHOLER, P. (2015). Reconstructing long-term human impacts on plant communities: an ecological approach based on lake sediment DNA. *Molecular Ecology* 24, 1485–1498.
- PANZA, R. & GOBBI, M. (2022). Areal contraction, upward shift and habitat fragmentation in the cold-adapted ground beetle *Nebria germarii* Heer, 1837 in the Brenta Dolomites, Italy. *Rendiconti Lincei. Scienze Fisiche e Naturali* 33(4), 923–931.
- *PARDUCCI, L., BENNETT, K. D., FICETOLA, G. F., ALSOS, I. G., SUYAMA, Y., WOOD, J. R. & PEDERSEN, M. W. (2017). Ancient plant DNA in lake sediments. *New Phylologist* 214, 924–942.
- PAUL, F., RASTNER, P., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., FUGAZZA, D., LE BRIS, R., NEMEC, J., RABATEL, A., RAMUSOVIC, M., SCHWAIZER, G. & SMIRAGLIA, C. (2020). Glacier shrinkage in the Alps continues unabated as revealed by a new glacier inventory from Sentinel-2. *Earth System Science Data* 12(3), 1805–1821.
- PELFINI, M. & GOBBI, M. (2005). Enhancement of the ecological value of Forni Glacier (Central Alps) as a possible geomorphosite: New data from arthropod communities. *Geografia Fisica e Dinamica Quaternaria* 28, 211–217.
- PERINI, L., GOSTINČAR, C., ANESIO, A. M., WILLIAMSON, C., TRANTER, M. & GUNDE-CIMERMAN, N. (2019). Darkening of the Greenland Ice Sheet: fungal abundance and diversity are associated with algal bloom. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10, 557.
- PERINI, L., GOSTINČAR, C., LIKAR, M., FRISVAD, J. C., KOSTANJŠEK, R., NICHOLES, M., WILLIAMSON, C., ANESIO, A. M., ZALAR, P. & GUNDE-CIMERMAN, N. (2023). Interactions of fungi and algae from the Greenland Ice Sheet. *Microbial Ecology* 86, 282–296.
- PERNTHALER, J. & POSCH, T. (2009). Microbial food webs. In Encyclopedia of Inland Waters, pp. 244–251. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- PITTINO, F., BUDA, J., AMBROSINI, R., PAROLINI, M., CROSTA, A., ZAWIERUCHA, K. & FRANZETTI, A. (2023a). Impact of anthropogenic contamination on glacier surface biota. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* **80**, 102900.
- PITTINO, F., MAGLIO, M., GANDOLFI, I., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., AMBROSINI, R. & FRANZETTI, A. (2018). Bacterial communities of cryoconite

holes of a temperate alpine glacier show both seasonal trends and year-to-year variability. Annals of Glaciology 59(77), 1–9.

- PITTINO, F., ZAWIERUCHA, K., PONIECKA, E., BUDA, J., ROSATELLI, A., ZORDAN, S., AZZONI, R. S., DIOLAIUTI, G., AMBROSINI, R. & FRANZETTI, A. (2023b). Functional and taxonomic diversity of anaerobes in supraglacial microbial communities. *Microbiology Spectrum* 11(2), e01004-22. https://doi.org/10.1128/ spectrum.01004-22.
- PITTINO, F., ZORDAN, S., AZZONI, R., DIOLAIUTI, G., AMBROSINI, R. & FRANZETTI, A. (2021). Diel transcriptional pattern contributes to functional and taxonomic diversity in supraglacial microbial communities. *bioRxiv*.
- POLIS, G. A. & MCCORMICK, S. J. (1987). Intraguild predation and competition among desert scorpions. *Ecology* 68(2), 332–343.
- PONIECKA, E. A., BAGSHAW, E. A., TRANTER, M., SASS, H., WILLIAMSON, C. J., ANESIO, A. M. & BLACK AND BLOOM TEAM (2018). Rapid development of anoxic niches in supraglacial ecosystems. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research* 50(1), 1420859.
- POTAPOV, M. (2001). Isotomidae. Synopses of Palearctic Collembola. Senckenberg Museum of Natural History, Goerlitz.
- PROCHÁZKOVÁ, L., REMIAS, D., REZANKA, T. & NEDBALOVÁ, L. (2019). Ecophysiology of *Chloromonas hindakii* sp. nov. (Chlorophyceae), causing orange snow blooms at different light conditions. *Microorganisms* 7, 434.
- QUAST, C., PRUESSE, E., YILMAZ, P., GERKEN, J., SCHWEER, T., YARZA, P., PEPLIES, J. & GLÖCKNER, F. O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Research* 41(D1), D590–D596.
- RASO, L., SINT, D., MAYER, R., PLANGG, S., RECHEIS, T., BRUNNER, S., KAUFMANN, R. & TRAUGOTT, M. (2014). Intraguild predation in pioneer predator communities of alpine glacier forelands. *Molecular Ecology* 23, 3744–3754.
- RIZZI, C., VILLA, S., ROSSINI, L., MUSTONI, A. & LENCIONI, V. (2022). Levels and ecological risk of selected organic pollutants in the high-altitude alpine cryosphere – The Adamello-Brenta Natural Park (Italy) as a case study. *Environmental Advances* 7, 100178.
- ROBERTS, E. C., PRISCU, J. C., WOLF, C., LYONS, W. B. & LAYBOURN-PARRY, J. (2004). The distribution of microplankton in the McMurdo Dry Valley Lakes, Antarctica: response to ecosystem legacy or present-day climatic controls? *Polar Biology* 27(4), 238–249.
- ROZWALAK, P., PODKOWA, P., BUDA, J., NIEDZIELSKI, P., KAWECKI, S., AMBROSINI, R., AZZONI, R. S., BACCOLO, G., CEBALLOS, J. L., COOK, J., DI MAURO, B., FICETOLA, G. F., FRANZETTI, A., IGNATIUK, D., KLIMASZYK, P., *ET AL.* (2022). Cryoconite – from minerals and organic matter to bioengineered sediments on glacier's surfaces. *Science of the Total Environment* 807, 150874.
- SANDERS, D., THÉBAULT, E., KEHOE, R. & VAN VEEN, F. J. (2013). Trophic redundancy reduces vulnerability to extinction cascades. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(10), 2419–2424.
- SANTIBÁÑEZ, P. A., KOHSHIMA, S., SCHEIHING, R. A., SILVA, R., JARAMILLO, J. I., LABARCA, P. J. & CASASSA, G. (2011). First record of testate amoebae on glaciers and description of a new species *Puytoracia jenswendti* nov. sp. (Rhizaria, Euglyphida). *Acta Protozoologica* 50, 1–14.
- SANYAL, A., ANTONY, R., GANESAN, P. & THAMBAN, M. (2020). Metabolic activity and bioweathering properties of yeasts isolated from different supraglacial environments of Antarctica and Himalaya. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 113(12), 2243– 2258.
- SANYAL, A., ANTONY, R., SAMUI, G. & THAMBAN, M. (2018). Microbial communities and their potential for degradation of dissolved organic carbon in cryoconite hole environments of Himalaya and Antarctica. *Microbiological Research* 208, 32–42.
- SCHWARTZ, M. W., BRIGHAM, C. A., HOEKSEMA, J. D., LYONS, K. G., MILLS, M. H. & VAN MANTGEM, P. J. (2000). Linking biodiversity to ecosystem function: implications for conservation ecology. *Oecologia* 122(3), 297–305.
- SEGAWA, T., TAKEUCHI, N., MORI, H., RATHNAYAKE, R. M. L. D., LI, Z., AKIYOSHI, A., SATOH, H. & ISHII, S. (2020). Redox stratification within cryoconite granules influences the nitrogen cycle on glaciers. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* **96**(11), fiaa199.
- SENESE, A., MANARA, V., MAUGERI, M. & DIOLAIUTI, G. A. (2020). Comparing measured incoming shortwave and longwave radiation on a glacier surface with estimated records from satellite and off-glacier observations: a case study for the Forni Glacier, Italy. *Remote Sensing* 12(22), 3719.
- SENESE, A., MAUGERI, M., MERALDI, E., VERZA, G. P., AZZONI, R. S., COMPOSTELLA, C. & DIOLAIUTI, G. (2018). Estimating the snow water equivalent on a glacierized high elevation site (Forni Glacier, Italy). *The Cryosphere* 12(4), 1293–1306.
- SHAIN, D. H., MASON, T. A., FARRELL, A. H. & MICHALEWICZ, L. A. (2001). Distribution and behavior of ice worms (*Mesenchytraeus solifugus*) in south-central Alaska. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **79**(10), 1813–1821.

- SHAIN, D. H., NOVIS, P. M., CRIDGE, A. G., ZAWIERUCHA, K., GENEVA, A. J. & DEARDEN, P. K. (2021). Five animal phyla in glacier ice reveal unprecedented biodiversity in New Zealand's southern Alps. *Scientific Reports* 11(1), 3898.
- SINT, D., KAUFMANN, R., MAYER, R. & TRAUGOTT, M. (2019). Resolving the predator first paradox: arthropod predator food webs in pioneer sites of glacier forelands. *Molecular Ecology* 28(2), 336–347.
- SMITH, H. J., SCHMIT, A., FOSTER, R., LITTMAN, S., KUYPERS, M. M. & FOREMAN, C. M. (2016). Biofilms on glacial surfaces: hotspots for biological activity. *npj Biofilms and Microbiomes* 2(1), 16008.
- STIBAL, M., BRADLEY, J. A., EDWARDS, A., HOTALING, S., ZAWIERUCHA, K., ROSVOLD, J., LUTZ, S., CAMERON, K. A., MIKUCKI, J. A., KOHLER, T. J., SABACKÁ, M. & ANESIO, A. M. (2020). Glacial ecosystems are essential to understanding biodiversity responses to glacier retreat. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 4(5), 686–687.
- STIBAL, M., SABACKÁ, M. & ZÁRSKÝ, J. (2012). Biological processes on glacier and ice sheet surfaces. *Nature Geoscience* 5(11), 771–774.
- SUH, S.-S., KIM, S.-M., KIM, J. E., HONG, J.-M., LEE, S. G., YOUN, U. J., HAN, S. J., KIM, I.-C. & KIM, S. (2017). Anticancer activities of ethanol extract from the Antarctic freshwater microalga, Botryidiopsidaceae sp. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 17(1), 509.
- *TABERLET, P., BONIN, A., ZINGER, L. & COISSAC, E. (2018). Environmental DNA: For Biodiversity Research and Monitoring. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- TAKEUCHI, N., KOHSHIMA, S., YOSHIMURA, Y., SEKO, K. & FUJITA, K. (2000). Characteristics of cryoconite holes on an Himalayan glacier, Yala Glacier Central Nepal. Bulletin of Glaciological Research 17, 51–59.
- TAKEUCHI, N., NISHIYAMA, H. & LI, Z. (2010). Structure and formation process of cryoconite granules on Ürümqi glacier No. 1, Tien Shan, China. Annals of Glaciology 51(56), 9–14.
- TAMPUCCI, D., AZZONI, R. S., BORACCHI, P., CITTERIO, C., COMPOSTELLA, C., DIOLAIUTI, G., ISAIA, M., MARANO, G., SMIRAGLIA, C., GOBBI, M. & CACCIANIGA, M. (2017). Debris-covered glaciers as habitat for plant and arthropod species: environmental framework and colonization patterns. *Ecological Complexity* 32, 42–52.
- TAMPUCCI, D., CITTERIO, C., GOBBI, M. & CACCIANIGA, M. (2016). Vegetation outlines of a debris-covered glacier descending below the treeline. *Plant Sociology* 53(1), 45–54.
- TELLING, J., BOYD, E. S., BONE, N., JONES, E. L., TRANTER, M., MACFARLANE, J. W., MARTIN, P. G., WADHAM, J. L., LAMARCHE-GAGNON, G., SKIDMORE, M. L., HAMILTON, T. L., HILL, E., JACKSON, M. & HODGSON, D. A. (2015). Rock comminution as a source of hydrogen for subglacial ecosystems. *Nature Geoscience* 8(11), 851–855.
- TOUCHETTE, D., ALTSHULER, I., GOSTINČAR, C., ZALAR, P., RAYMOND-BOUCHARD, I., ZAJC, J., MCKAY, C. P., GUNDE-CIMERMAN, N. & WHYTE, L. G. (2022). Novel Antarctic yeast adapts to cold by switching energy metabolism and increasing small RNA synthesis. *The ISME Journal* 16(1), 221–232.
- TSUJI, M., VINCENT, W. F., TANABE, Y. & UCHIDA, M. (2022). Glacier retreat results in loss of fungal diversity. Sustainability 14, 1617. https://doi.org/10.3390/su140316.
- TURCHETTI, B., BUZZINI, P., GORETTI, M., BRANDA, E., DIOLAIUTI, G., D'AGATA, C., SMIRAGLIA, C. & VAUGHAN-MARTINI, A. (2008). Psychrophilic yeasts in glacial environments of Alpine glaciers. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 63(1), 73–83.
- URBINI, S., ZIRIZZOTTI, A., BASKARADAS, J., TABACCO, I., CAFARELLA, L., SENESE, A., SMIRAGLIA, C. & DIOLAIUTI, G. (2017). Airborne Radio Echo Sounding (RES) measures on Alpine glaciers to evaluate ice thickness and bedrock geometry: preliminary results from pilot tests performed in the Ortles Cevedale Group (Italian Alps). Annals of Geophysics 60(2), G0226.
- VALLE, B., AMBROSINI, R., CACCIANIGA, M. & GOBBI, M. (2020). Ecology of the cold-adapted species *Nebria germari* (Coleoptera: Carabidae): the role of supraglacial stony debris as refugium during the current interglacial period. *Acta Zoologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae* 66(Suppl), 199–220.
- VALLE, B., BARBON, G., CUCINI, C., NARDI, F., AMBROSINI, R., BOSCHI, S., BUDA, J., FICETOLA, G. F., FRATI, F., KOVAC, L., MARTA, S., SCOTTI, R., TOSCANO RIVALTA, V., ZIMMER, A., GOBBI, M. & CACCIANIGA, M. (2024). The unexplored biodiversity of 'glacier fleas' (Hexapoda: Collembola) of the European Alps and Apennines: taxonomy, distribution and ecology. *Journal of Zoological Systematics and Evolutionary Research*. Submitted.
- VALLE, B., DI MUSCIANO, M., GOBBI, M., BONELLI, M., COLONNELLI, E., GARDINI, G., MIGLIORINI, M., PANTINI, P., ZANETTI, A., BERRILLI, E., FRATTAROLI, A. R., FUGAZZA, D., INVERNIZZI, A. & CACCIANIGA, M. (2022). Biodiversity and ecology of plants and arthropods on the last preserved glacier of the Apennines mountain chain (Italy). *The Holocene* **32**(8), 853–865.
- VARLIERO, G., HOLLAND, A., BARKER, G. L. A., YALLOP, M. L., FOUNTAIN, A. G. & ANESIO, A. M. (2021). Glacier clear ice bands indicate englacial channel microbial distribution. *Journal of Glaciology* 67(265), 811–823.

- VERA, A., ZUÑIGA-REINOSO, A. & MUÑOZ-ESCOBAR, C. (2012). Historical perspective on the distribution of *Andiperla willinki* 'Patagonian dragon' (Plecoptera: Gripopterygidae). *Revista Chilena de Entomología* 37, 87–93.
- WAGG, C., SCHLAEPPI, K., BANERJEE, S., KURAMAE, E. E. & VAN DER HEIJDEN, M. G. A. (2019). Fungal-bacterial diversity and microbiome complexity predict ecosystem functioning. *Nature Communications* 10(1), 4841.
- WANG, Q.-M., YURKOV, A. M., GÖKER, M., LUMBSCH, H. T., LEAVITT, S. D., GROENEWALD, M., THEELEN, B., LIU, X.-Z., BOEKHOUT, T. & BAI, F.-Y. (2015). Phylogenetic classification of yeasts and related taxa within Pucciniomycotina. *Studies in Mycology* 81(1), 149–189.
- WEILAND-BRÄUER, N., FISCHER, M. A., SCHRAMM, K.-W. & SCHMITZ, R. A. (2017). Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB)-degrading potential of microbes present in a cryoconite of Jamtalferner glacier. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 8, 1105. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01105.
- WEJNEROWSKI, Ł., PONIECKA, E., BUDA, J., KLIMASZYK, P., PIASECKA, A., DZIUBA, M. K., MUGNAI, G., TAKEUCHI, N. & ZAWIERUCHA, K. (2023). Empirical testing of cryoconite granulation: role of cyanobacteria in the formation of key biogenic structure darkening glaciers in polar regions. *Journal of Phycology* 59, 939–949.
- YALLOP, M. L., ANESIO, A. M., PERKINS, R. G., COOK, J., TELLING, J., FAGAN, D., MACFARLANE, J., STIBAL, M., BARKER, G., BELLAS, C., HODSON, A., TRANTER, M., WADHAM, J. & ROBERTS, N. W. (2012). Photophysiology and albedo-changing potential of the ice algal community on the surface of the Greenland ice sheet. *The ISME Journal* 6(12), 2302–2313.
- ZAWIERUCHA, K., BUDA, J., AZZONI, R. S., NIŚKIEWICZ, M., FRANZETTI, A. & AMBROSINI, R. (2019a). Water bears dominated cryoconite hole ecosystems: densities, habitat preferences and physiological adaptations of Tardigrada on an alpine glacier. Aquatic Ecology 53(4), 543–556.
- ZAWIERUCHA, K., BUDA, J., FONTANETO, D., AMBROSINI, R., FRANZETTI, A., WIERZGOŃ, M. & BOGDZIEWICZ, M. (2019b). Fine-scale spatial heterogeneity of invertebrates within cryoconite holes. *Aquatic Ecology* 53(2), 179–190.
- ZAWIERUCHA, K., BUDA, J. & NAWROT, A. (2019c). Extreme weather event results in the removal of invertebrates from cryoconite holes on an Arctic valley glacier (Longyearbreen, Svalbard). *Ecological Research* 34, 370–379.
- ZAWIERUCHA, K., PORAZINSKA, D. L., FICETOLA, G. F., AMBROSINI, R., BACCOLO, G., BUDA, J., CEBALLOS, J. L., DEVETTER, M., DIAL, R., FRANZETTI, A., FUGLEWICZ, U., GIELLY, L., ŁOKAS, E., JANKO, K., NOVOTNÁ JAROMEŘSKÁ, T., ET AL. (2021). A hole in the nematosphere: tardigrades and rotifers dominate the cryoconite hole environment, whereas nematodes are missing. Journal of Zoology 313(1), 18–36.
- ZAWIERUCHA, K. & SHAIN, D. H. (2019). Disappearing Kilimanjaro snow—are we the last generation to explore equatorial glacier biodiversity? *Ecology and Evolution* 9(15), 8911–8918.

(Received 18 January 2024; revised 23 August 2024; accepted 26 August 2024)

- ZAWIERUCHA, K., STEC, D., LACHOWSKA-CIERLIK, D., TAKEUCHI, N., LI, Z. & MICHALCZYK, Ł. (2018). High mitochondrial diversity in a new water bear species (Tardigrada: Eutardigrada) from mountain glaciers in Central Asia, with the erection of a new genus *Cryoconicus. Annales Zoologici* **68**(1), 179–201.
- ZAWIERUCHA, K., TRZEBNY, A., BUDA, J., BAGSHAW, E., FRANZETTI, A., DABERT, M. & AMBROSINI, R. (2022). Trophic and symbiotic links between obligate-glacier water bears (Tardigrada) and cryoconite microorganisms. *PLoS One* 17(1), e0262039.
- ZAWIERUCHA, K., VECCHI, M., TAKEUCHI, N., ONO, M. & CALHIM, S. (2023). Negative impact of freeze-thaw cycles on the survival of tardigrades. *Ecological Indicators* 154, 110460.
- ZDANOWSKI, M. K., BOGDANOWICZ, A., GAWOR, J., GROMADKA, R., WOLICKA, D. & GRZESIAK, J. (2017). Enrichment of cryoconite hole anaerobes: implications for the subglacial microbiome. *Microbial Ecology* **73**(3), 532–538.
- *ZINGER, L., BONIN, A., ALSOS, I. G., BÁLINT, M., BIK, H., BOYER, F., CHARITON, A. A., CREER, S., COISSAC, E., DEAGLE, B. E., DE BARBA, M., DICKIE, I. A., DUMBRELL, A. J., FICETOLA, G. F., FIERER, N., *ET AL.* (2019). DNA metabarcoding—Need for robust experimental designs to draw sound ecological conclusions. *Molecular Ecology* 28, 1857–1862.

IX. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Table S1. Checklist of all taxa detected on the Forni Glacier. (.xlsx)

Table S2. Non-filtered environmental DNA (eDNA) abundance data. (.xlsx).

Table S3. Filtered environmental DNA (eDNA) abundance data. (.xlsx).

Appendix S1. Filtering methods for eDNA data. **Table S4.** V9 sequencing abundance data. (.xlsx).

146918x, 0, Downloaded from https://nlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13138 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.1318 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.1318 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.1318 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.1318 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on [02/10/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.1318 by Cochranettalia, Wiley Online Library on